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6 INTRODUCTION.

be unjust to them, but would betray no slight ignorance of the
views which prevailed at that conjuncture. Not only were the
rules and customs of the British Parliament closely observed in
the deliberative assemblies of the Colony, and of the Common-
wealth in its earlier days, but-the mode of conducting a parlia-
mentary campaign was strictly observed. And in conducting a
parliamentary campaign no rule was more generally enforced
than that which confined the debate to certain leaders on each
side of the House.!

The habit of every member making a speech on every subject,
which has caused so much prolixity in our public proceedings,
had not become the fashion with our public men. Beside the
observance of the well-known customs of Parliament, there were
other considerations which tended to repress much speaking.
The sessions of the House of Burgesses were short, rarely
exceeding a month, and were usually held in May—a season
precious in the eyes of those who derived their sustenance from
agriculture. Political counsiderations also had their weight; for
it was in the power of the Royal Governor to prorogue the
House at pleasure, and it became important, as difficulties
between that officer and the Assembly might at any moment
arise, to transact the real business of the Colony with all prac-
ticable speed.” It should also be observed that the greatest
prompter to modern loquacity did not then exist. There were
no reporters; and if there had been reporters, there were no
papers in which reports could be published. A small weekly
sheet afforded to the Colonists the only political nutriment
which they could obtain, and that sheet would not hold an entire
speech of the ordinary dimensions. Such, too, was the difficulty
of public conveyance—such was the infrequency and irregularity
of posts—that even that sheet reached very few of the home-
steads of the people. Such was, to a certain extent, the case in
the Commonwealth. Thus it happened that comparatively few

1We know from letters cited in the course of this work that the
friends of the Constitution had parcelled out their opponents; and
held themselves in reserve for them.

2 Patrick Henry’s resolutions against the Stamp Act were adopted at
the heel of the session, and so with many other measures likely to
offend the Governor.









ARCHIBALD STUART.

First among the young men west of the Blue Ridge in those

" qualifications which attract public attention, and which fit their
possessor for acting with effect in public assemblies, was Archi-
bald Stuart, of Augusta. He had not that large experience
in affairs, civil and military, which was possessed by Thomas
Lewis, or even by Andrew Moore, by Darke and Stephen, by
William Fleming and Stuart, of Greenbrier; nor had he yet
attained that standing at the bar which Gabriel Jones had long
held; but he had seen the smoke of battle, was a ready and
forcible speaker, was a graceful writer, and, though young, had
already served with distinction during several sessions of the
Assembly. He belonged to that remarkable portion of the
Anglo-Saxon family which had for more than a century cherished
on the Irish soil the principles and attachments of the land from
which they came, and which under a domestic discipline, partly
military and partly religious, were skilful in discerning their
rights, and prompt in defending them. The British colonization
of Ireland was essentially military. The settlers could be
counted by thousands, while the aboriginal population num-
bered more than a million. Another great element in this, the
greatest in English estimation of all the schemes of colonization
which England had there developed, was the element of religion. .
The Colonists were Protestants ; the subject caste, ignorant and
semi-barbarous, were within the pale of the Church of Rome.
Hence the Colonists became in a degree unknown in the mother
country—Whigs in politics and Protestants in religion. The
history of Irish colonization is iriimately connected with the
history of our own Colony, and. of that freedom which we now
enjoy. It was one of those wonderful processes in human
affairs, which, though seen even by acute politicians only in
their ordinary aspects, was destined in another age and in a dis-
tant land to bring about a memorable revolution. To the com-
mon eye there seems no connection between the butcheries
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perpetrated by Cromwell and the cruelties and confiscations
wrought by the misgovernment of James the Second, and the
passage of the resolutions of Virginia in 1765 against the Stamp
Act; yet, it is as certain as any event in history that, if-the
British policy in Ireland had been other than it was, those reso-
lutions might indeed have been offered, but they would have
‘been rejected by a decisive vote. When it is remembered that
those resolutions were carried by the western vote, especially by
the vote of the Valley members, the connection is obvious and
indisputable. And it may well happen that in the measures of
our own day, designed to accomplish limited and definite objects,
the historian a century hence may detect the seminal principle
which is destined to effect radical changes in existing institutions,
and, perhaps, to overturn the present frame of society and to
substitute some new system in its stead.

The grandfather of Archibald Stuart emigrated from Ireland
in 1727, and settled for a time in Pennsylvania, where in 1735
Alexander, the father of Archibald, was born. In 1739 the
family removed to Augusta county in this State, where Alex-
ander, whose lofty stature and uncommon strength were noted
even among his neighbors in the Valley, married in due time
Mary Patterson. Of this marriage Archibald was the first of
many children. He was born at the homestead about nine miles
southwest of Staunton, on the 19th day of March, 1757. His
boyhood was spent in Augusta; but his father having removed
to the neighborhood of Brownsburg, in Rockbridge, Archibald
became a resident of that county, and was entered a pupil in the
seminary then known as Liberty Hall, now as Washington Col-
. lege. [Now as Washington and Lee University.—Ebn.] Like
his classmates, who derived their: instruction from William
Graham, he became a devoted advocate of civil and religious
freedom, and, in imitation of his illustrious teacher, was ever
ready to defend it in battle or in debate.

In the fall of 1779 he attended William and Mary College,
and became an inmate of the family of the President, afterwards
Bishop Madison. It happened that the institution then con-
tained a large number of youths who were destined to act a
conspicuous part in public affairs. Of these Allen, Hartwell
Cocke, Eyre, Hardy, John Jones, and Stevens Thomson
Mason were his colleagues in the present Convention. Another
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associate, who, after a long career at the bar, has for more than a
third of a century been resting in his honored grave in the yard
of St. Paul’s in Norfolk, and who was beloved and revered by
his countrymen for the incorruptible integrity aud unblemished
purity of his life, was John Nivison. It is creditable to the
standing of Stuart that among such students he was conspicu-
ous. His personal appearance and his address, as well as that
accurate scholarship which was characteristic of the pupils of
Graham, contributed to his popularity. His erect and sinewy
form (which exceeded six feet in height), his placid face and
expressive black eyes, his long black hair falling about his neck,
the blended austerity and gentleness of his deportment, pre-
sented to his young associates one of the finest models of the
Western Virginian. There had been lately instituted in William
and Mary a literary association, which in its brief life communi-
cated its mystic symbols and its name to a similar association at
Harvard, which in its foreign home has flourished with such
unexampled vigor as to include on its roll the names of many of
the most eloquent and learned men of the whole country for
‘more than two entire generations, which was destined to sudden
extinction in the place of its origin, but which was then in its
early prime—the Society of the Phi Beta Kappa. Of this
association Stuart was elected president. On his return to
College, in 1780, he found the eastern part of the State infested
by the British. " The exercises of the College were suspended,
and the public affairs were in an almost desperate condition.
Stuart at once hastened to the scene of active war, joined the
army as a private soldier in the regiment from Rockbridge, of
which his father was the Major, and was promoted to an office
in the commissariat department. But when the advance of
Cornwallis rendered an engagement certain, he took his station
in the ranks, and fought gallantly at Guilford. It was in this
battle that he saw his father, who commanded the regiment on
that day, fall with his wounded horse, instantly stripped of his
clothing by the British Tories, and, suffering from his wounds,
conveyed a prisoner within the enemy’s lines.® During the

3Dr. Foote, in his second volume of Virginia Collections, page 147,
states that Major Stuart was not wounded ; but authorities in my pos-
session, which are most authentic, show that he was wounded. Dr.
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whole campaign young Stuart had in his possession the official
seal of the Phi Beta Kappa Society, of which he was the presi-
dent, which, as the Society went down, he retained till his death,
and which, many years after his death, was found in the secret
drawer of his escritoire, where it had remained more than half a
century, and which was transmitted by his son to the Society at.
William and Mary, which had been recently revived, where it
now performs its original office.*

On the return of Stuart from Guilford he studied law with
Mr. Jefferson, and ever cherished for his preceptor the highest
admiration and esteem. Some of the law-books which he pro-
cured from Mr. Jefferson are in the library of his son.® What
Wythe had been to Jefferson, Jefferson became to young Stuart:
the adviser, the friend, and the revered associate through life.
In the Stuart papers there is in the handwriting of Mr. Jefferson
a form of a Constitution for Virginia, drawn in 1791.* Their
intimacy lasted during the life of Jefferson. When Stuart was
elected judge, his district included the county of Albemarle;
and, in attending the sessions of his court, he regularly spent a
night with his old preceptor. As a politician he sustained his
administration, and was a Republican elector until the series of
Virginia Presidents who had borne a part in the Revolution was
ended.

He began the practice of the law in Rockbridge, and in the
spring of 1783 was brought forward as a candidate for the
House of Delegates, but lost his election by thirteen votes. A

Foote describes the Major as riding on the field a beautiful mare. He
was of gigantic stature. His sword [now in the cabinet of the Vir-
ginia Historical Society, and ot of unusual size—Eb.], which men of
the ordinary size could hardly wield with effect, is in possession of his
grandson, the Hon. A. H. H. Stuart, to whom I am indebted for some
interesting details of his father’s life. 1 would point out to the student
of history the diary of the Rev. Samuel Houston, who was in the
battle of Guilford. It may be found in Dr. Foote’s second series,
pages 142-145.

*The original MS. proceedings of the Society are in the archives of
the Virginia Historical Society.—EDITOR.

® A portion of his correspondence with Mr. Jefferson and others is
in the possession of the Virginia Historical Society, presented by his
son, Hon. A. H. H. Stuart.—Ep1TOR.
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few days after the election in Rockbridge he visited Botetourt
on some business with Colonel Skillern, and while he was the
guest of the Colonel he was invited to attend a public festival, at
which most of the leading citizens of the county were present.
At the gathering he was called upon for a speech, which was so
well received by the company that he was requested to become
a candidate for a seat in the House of Delegates at the election
to be held on the following Monday.® There was one obstacle
to his success, which seemed at first sight difficult to be over-
come. He did not possess a freehold in the county; but the
prompt generosity of Skillern removed that defect,” and on the
following Monday he was duly returned. He was re-elected
from Botetourt in 1784 and in 1785, when he removed from
Rockbridge to Augusta, where he resided until his death.
From Augusta he was returned in 1786 and in 1787. But there
was no public question in which he seemed to take a greater
interest than the ratification of the Federal Constitution. He
had sustained in the House of Delegates the resolution con-
voking the meeting at Annapolis, and the resolution appointing
delegates to the Federal Convention that framed the Constitu-
tion, and he felt in a certain sense a paternal feeling toward that
instrument. In Augusta he put forth all his strength in its
support, and, having accidentally learned one day before the
election in Botetourt was to take place that the candidates for
the Convention were unwilling to pledge themselves to vote for
its ratification, he mounted his horse and rode day and night to
Fincastle, a distance of seventy-five miles, that he might make
an appeal to his old constituents in favor of the Constitution.
He arrived at the court-house after the polls had been opened,
and requested their suspension until he could address the people.
He spoke with such effect that the people were induced to exact
explicit pledges from the candidates to sustain the Constitution,
which they finally gave, and which they faithfully redeemed.

$Until 1830 the Virginia elections were held “in all the month of
April.”

1This deed remained on record, overlooked by both parties con-
cerned. Colonel Skillern, indeed, sold and conveyed it to another
party. It was improW& by the erection of buildings upon it. It was
sold a few years ago, and, upon an examination of the title, the defect
as above was discovered, and a release was given by Hon. A. H. H.
Stuart, as the Editor has been informed by him.
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His course in the present Convention, in which he sustained
the extreme views of those who upheld the Constitution, has
been pointed out already, and may be read in the ayes and noes.
In 1797, he was called once more into public life, took his seat
in the Senate of Virginia from the Augusta district, and bore a
part in the memorable contest which was then waging between
the Federalists, who approved the policy of the elder Adams, and
the Republicans, who approved the policy of which Jefferson
was the representative. Here he voted for the resolutions, which
though offered by John Taylor, of Caroline, were drawn by
Madison; but before the report of 1799 had reached the Senate
he was elected a judge of the General Court, and entered on the
duties of his office on the 1st of January, 1800, which he dis-
charged with acknowledged ability and faithfulness until 1831,
when, having attained the age of seventy-three, he declined a
re-election under the Constitution which had been adopted the
preceding year. Though on the bench, he was chosen the Jef-
ferson elector in 1800 and in 1804, the Madison elector in 1808
and in 1812, the Monroe elector in 1816 and in 1820, and the
Crawford elector in 1824. Thus far he acted with his ancient
colleagues of the Republican party; but, preferring Mr. Adams
to General Jackson, he was placed by the friends of Adams on
their electoral ticket in 1828, which was defeated by the ticket of?-
the opposite party. He died at Staunton on the 11th day of
July, 1832, in the seventy-fifth year of his age.

He possessed an elegant taste in letters, which his contribu-
tions to the memoir of Henry, by Wirt, strikingly exhibit; and
we are told that he was one of that able cohort of writers who
made the Richmond Enguirer, then recently established by its
late venerable editor, the bulwark of the party to which it
belonged and the terror of its foes. Nor were his attainments
confined to literature. He was fond of the severe sciences; and
such was his reputation in mathematics that he was tendered the
professorship in that department in William and Mary College,
and was appointed one of the commissioners to run the dividing
line between Virginia and Kentucky.®

In his latter years he presented to the young generations rising

8See Revised Code of 1819, Vol. I, page 61. His colleagues were
General Joseph Martin and Judge Creed Taylor. The Richmond
Enguirer came out in May, 1804.
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around him a venerable image of the fathers of the Republic.
His person to the last was erect; his frame, which was six feet
three inches in height, was broad and muscular; his hair, which
in youth was black, was white as snow, and was dressed in a
queue; but his dark hazel eyes were still bright, and the grave.
and almost stern aspect of his face was such as one would look
for in a statesman who, nearly half a century before, in an hour
of trial and apprehension, had assisted in laying the foundation
of the government under which we now live, and who had, since
that time, been engaged in the honorable but arduous duties of
a legislator and a judge. When he visited the hall of the Con-
vention of 1829-’30, and took the seat allotted by the courtesy
of the House to the judges, he observed with interest the repre-
sentatives of a new generation about to frame a new system of
government for his beloved Commonwealth, but he could not
know the tender regard with which he was beheld as one of the
five survivors of that illustrious band which composed the Con-
vention of 1788.°

In 1829 the survivors of the Convention of 1788 were Mr. Madison,
Judge Marshall, and Colonel Moanroe (who were members of the Con-
vention of 1829), Judge Stuart, and James Johnson, of Isle of Wight.
It was on this occasion I had the honor of forming an acquaintance with
Judge Stuart.

I annex portions of a letter received from an intelligent correspond-
ent, which describes the Judge in latter life: ‘‘ Judge Stuart, in May,
1791, married Miss Eleanor Briscoe, a daughter of Colonel Gerard
Briscoe, of Frederick county, Virginia, but formerly of Montgomery
county, Maryland. Her two sisters married Dr. Cornelius Baldwin, the
father of the late Judge Briscoe G. Baldwin, and Judge Hugh Holmes.
In stature the Judge was tall and rawboned, his height was six feet
three inches, and he was perfectly erect. He was broad-shouldered,
large-boned, and muscular. His eyes were of a dark hazel color and
exceedingly expressive., His complexion was dark, but somewhat
florid; in manner he was rather stately and reserved. To strangers
and on the bench he sometimes appeared austere in his deportment,
but amongst his friends he exhibited the kindest and most genial dis-
position. In his dress he adhered very much to the fashions of the
Revolutionary period. His hair was worn combed back from his face
and with a long queue behind. Until a short time before his death, he
would wear nothing but short breeches with fair topped boots., In the
latter part of his life his hair was as white as snow, and I never
knew a man of more commanding and venerable appearance. In
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GABRIEL JONES.

Another member of the bar, whom the Valley deputed to the
Convention, and who holds an important place in its early his-
tory, was Gabriel Jones. To this day some racy anecdotes,
everywhere current in the Valley, but too prurient for the public
eye, serve to show the peculiarities of this really able but most
singular man. He is said to have opened the first law office
west of the Blue Ridge. He was born in 1724, near Williams-
burg, of English parents, who had come over ten years before
and had settled in the vicinity of the metropolis.” About 1734
the family returned to England, and in the city of London young

the general aspect of his features he bore a strong resemblance to Gen-
eral Jackson, but was on a much larger scale. The most remarkable
characteristic of his mind was his sound judgment. [ have often
heard Judge Baldwin say that he thought his judgment but little, if at
all, inferior to Judge Marshall’s, and that, if he had been placed in a
position to require the constant exercise of all his faculties, he would
have been one of the most eminent judges in his time. He was a
generous patron of young men struggling against difficulties, and
among those who shared his kindness was the well-known John Allen,
the rival of Henry Clay, who was killed at the river Raisin. Another
peculiarity of the Judge was his almost intuitive perception of the
character of men. The only portrait of him in existence was painted
in 1824 by George Cooke, and is in the possession of his son, the Hon.
A. H. H. Stuart.”

1 Governor Gilmer, of Georgia, describes Gabriel Jones as ““a Welsh-
man well educated, a friend, kinsman, and executor of Lord Fairfax.”
I have followed the authority of the grandson of Mr. Jones, Francis
B. Jones, Esq., as that most likely to be authentic. See Governor Gil-
mer’s “ Georgians,” page 61. [Gabriel Jones, it is believed, possessed
a select, if not a large, library, for his period, in the Colony. Volumes
with his book-plate frequently occur in libraries sold at auction. The
arms used by him would indicate that he was of English descent, as
they are those given by Burk (General Armory), as ““Jones, Chilton and
Shrewsbury, county, Salop; granted 16th June, 1607. Arms: A lion
rampant vert, vulned in the breast, gu. Crest: A sun in splendour,
or.” Gabriel Jones’s plate bore also the motto, *‘ Pax ruris hospila,”
and “ Gabriel Jones, Attorney at Law.”—EDITOR.]
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Jones received his early training. While yet a lad Gabriel
returned to Virginia, studied law, turned in due time his course
westward, and took up his abode in the Valley, attending the
courts of Winchester, Staunton, and Romney. In 1748 he
married Miss Margaret Strother, a daughter of William Strother,
who lived on the Rappahannock, and whose two other daughters
married Thomas Lewis and John Madison, the father of the
Bishop. After his marriage, Jones continued to reside in Fred-
erick, but subsequently purchasing a beautiful estate on the
Shenandoah in the present county of Rockingham, he removed
thither, and there he resided during the remainder of his life.
His estate lay directly opposite the estate of his brother-in-law
and colleague in the Convention, Thomas Lewis. He died in
1806, in the eighty-third year of his age. He was of small
stature and of a nervous temperament, and, having lost his right
eye in early life, he always wore a shade to conceal the defect
from public observation. He is represented in a portrait at
“Vaucluse,” the seat of his late grandson, as dressed in the full
toilet of a gentleman of the old reg7me, the shade over his eye,
and as having a face shrewd and attenuated, and indicative of a
high temper. Indeed, with all the discipline of a long life, with
all his respect for those restraints which his position at the head
of the bar, as the head of a family in an orderly, moral and even
religious society, and as a gentleman punctilious in dress and
demeanor, he could never turn the cup of provocation from his
lips, nor restrain the outbursts of a temper terrible to the
last degree. Even in the presence of the court his passions
flamed wildly and fiercely. He was the first, and for a long
time the only, attorney who practiced in Augusta county, and
was generally known as 7%e Lawyer. The road by which he
travelled to Staunton was called the Lawyer's Road. An inci-
dent which occurred in Augusta court will serve’to show the
peculiar temper of Jones, and, at the same time, the temper of
the court toward him. He was engaged in a case in which the
late Judge Holmeg was the opposing counsel. Holmes was
mischievous and witty, and contrived to get Jones into a furious
passion, when he became very profane. After hearing Jones
for some time the court consulted together in order to determine
what steps should be taken to preserve its dignity. To think of
punishing Lawyer Jones was out of the question; so the pre-
2
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siding judge gave it as the decision of the court, ‘‘ that if Mr.
Holmes did not quit worrying Mr. Jones and making him curse
and swear so, he should be sent to jail.”" Withal he was a most
skilful and learned lawyer, indefatigable in maintaining the inter-
ests of his clients, and most successful in winning verdicts.

His politics were pitched to the same high key with his tem-
per. He had no fears of a strong government which was, at the
same time, a representative government. He thought that the
principal defect in popular institutions consisted in their weak-
ness, and that vigor in the administration was the true and the
only means of sustaining successfully a republican system. He
warmly supported the Federal Constitution; and was to his last
hour a thorough, open, and uncompromising Federalist. I.ook-
ing upon every honor to be conferred upon him as a mark of
disgrace if founded on an erroneous view of his opinions, he
expressed himself on public occasions with a freedom and a
harshness that gave great scandal even to men not ordinarily
squeamish. Thus, when he was a candidate with Thomas Lewis
for a seat in the present Convention, though his opinions were
everywhere known in the Valley, having heard that some of the
voters whom he disliked intended voting for him out of regard
for his brother-in-law, he declared from the hustings, on the
opening of the polls, ‘‘that he would not receive the votes of
such damned rascals.”” He had no concealments, in public or
in private. He was never worse than he appeared to be. In
the relations of private life he was punctual, liberal, and honor-
able. The man never lived who doubted his integrity. By
strict attention to the duties of his profession he accumulated a
large estate. In pecuniary matters he was stern, but just. He
exacted indiscriminately his own dues from others, but he ren-
dered the dues of others with equal exactness. In an age of
wild speculation, he would never buy a bond. under par, nor
receive more than six per cent. for the use of money. Hence,
by the aid of his large capital, his influence was extensive; and
that influence was invariably wielded in behalf of suffering

T have given this nearly in the words of a writer in the Virginia
Historical Register, Vol. III, 17. I have received it from various
sources.

121 have heard this incident detailed in several ways, but all illustra-
tive of the fearlessness of Jones in the presence of the voters.
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THOMAS LEWIS.

But Gabriel Jones was not the only man of influence and
talents whom Rockingham sent to the present Convention. No
two men could differ more from each other in physical and moral
qualities than Jones and his colleague, Thomas Lewis. Jones
was diminutive in stature; Lewis was one of a family of gallant
brothers whose height exceeded six feet; and he was large in
proportion to his height. Jones, to the extreme verge of a pro-
tracted and prosperous life, gave way to an uncontrollable tem-
per; Lewis, though sprung from a fiery race, governed his
passions with such deliberate judgment that few even of his
intimate friends had ever seen him under high excitement.
Jones, when he was furious—and he was apt tc be furious on
slight provocation—swore with such vehemence as to shock even
men of the world; Lewis, though unconnected with any church,
was essentially a pious man, and gave instructions in his will
that the burial-service of the Episcopal Church should be read
by his friend Gilmer at his grave. In the science and practice
of law, to which he had devoted for more than half a century
the energies of a vigorous mind, Jones was superior not only to
Lewis, but to all his rivals west of the Ridge; but in a love of
order, in popularity derived from personal worth, and in integ-
rity, Lewis was his equal; and in profound and elegant scholar-
ship, and in a knowledge of political affairs, acquired in the pub-
lic councils during the earlier stages of those measures which
led to the Revolution, he was not only ahead of Jones, but of all
the able and patriotic men to whom the West had confided its
interests at this critical conjuncture, he was regarded at home
and throughout the State as confessedly the first. They were
brothers-in-law, lived in a style of liberal hospitality on their
princely estates lying on the opposite banks of the Shenandoah,
and were personal friends. Lewis was the elder by six years.
Both had probably studied at William and Mary, had emigrated
in early life to the Valley, with the interests of which they were
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fully conversant, and advocated with equal zeal the ratification
of the Federal Constitution. They were descended from differ-
ent stocks—possibly from the same stock developed under differ-
ent circumstances. Jones was of English parentage, and though
born in Virginia, spent his youth in England.’ With the gov-
ernment of that country he was familiar, and he saw nothing in
it to excite remark or to demand reform. In common with the
most conspicuous statesmen of the Revolution, he would have
preferred a safe and honorable connection with England to a
state of independence. He was in favor of an energetic govern-
ment vigorously administered, and from habit, from policy, and
from principle would have chosen rather to await the full develop-
ment of bad measures than to assail in the beginning an abstract
principle from which bad measures were likely to follow. Lewis
was the descendant of a Scotch ancestor, who had become an
Irish colonist, and who imbibed the spirit, partly religious and
partly military, which a colonist of the dominant race in the cir-
cumstances of his condition could not fail to cherish. Hence
the readiness with which Lewis separated himself from the great
body of the eastern delegation in the House of Burgesses of
1765, and voted for the resolutions of Henry against the Stamp
Act. He well knew that the Colony could bear the weight of a
stamp tax as easily as we now bear the weight of the tax on
letters transmitted through the post; but he saw in the principle
of laying taxes on the people without representation a source of
danger, the extent of which could only be measured by the
cupidity of those who had unjustly assumed the power. Jones,
in common with many eastern members, might have hesitated to
adopt means of resistance until the policy had become fixed;
but Lewis voted to resist the infraction at the outset, and to
incur present difficulty in the hope of forestalling future trouble.
Hence, while many of the eastern men in March, 1775, were
reluctant to proceed to extremities, and were disposed to rely on
the operation of the non-importation agreements as an appeal to

4 Governor Gilmer, already cited, calls Jones a Welshman, and
assigns his reasons for believing that the Lewises were originally from
Wales. Ilean to the belief that the Lewises were neither Huguenot
nor Welsh, but were Scotch, and emigrated to Ireland in the time of
James the First, or of Cromwell. [This question grows.—EDITOR.]
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the commercial sensibilities of England, Lewis approved the
resolutions of Henry for putting the Colony into military array;
and in the following year sustained the resolution instructing the
delegates of Virginia in Congress to propose independence, and
the resolution appointing a committee to report a Declaration of
Rights and an independent Constitution. But on this great
occasion Lewis and Jones united to attain a common object.
This change in the policy of Lewis did not fail to attract atten-
tion. It was from a close observation of his conduct in past
years that the opponents of the Federal Constitution counted
upon his vote. In the eyes of Henry and his compatriots, who
had steadily guarded the right of taxation, not only from the
encroachments of the mother country, but from the encroach-
ments of our own Confederation, it seemed monstrous to cede
that invaluable right without limitation to any authority what-
ever, whether that authority was seated on the other side of the
Atlantic or on this. The statesmen of whom Henry was the
chief were free to declare that the Northern States richly merited
their gratitude for their heroic conduct in resisting British
tyranny, and that they ardently desired a union with them; but
between an expression of gratitude and a love of union, and an
entire surrender of the right most precious to freemen, there
was an immense interval which it was madness to overleap.
Lewis doubtless felt the delicacy-of his position. It was pain-
ful to part from friends with whom we had long held intimate
communion; but it was his deliberate conviction that the diffi-
culties of the crisis demanded a trial of the new system, and he
voted with his colleague, who from the first had no doubts on
the subject. j
Nor was his vote confined to the ratification of the Consti-
tution. On the greatest of all the amendments which were
reported by the select committee, and which aimed to secure to
the States a modified control over the right of taxation, he again
parted from his ancient allies. It may be remarked, as an
instructive fact in the history of the Scotch-Irish race which
settled in the Valley, and made an impression upon its popula-
tion likely to last for years and ages to come, that those among
them who were attached to the Episcopal Church were eager
for the ratification of the Federal Constitution ; and that those
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who had been dissenters before the Revolution, and were con-
nected with the Presbyterian Church, opposed the adoption of
that instrument in its unamended form with all their zeal.®

Of the early life of Lewis, of his birth in Ireland, and the
circumstances which led to the emigration of his family, of his
services as the first surveyor of Augusta, when Augusta extended
to the Ohio and to the Mississippi, and of his career in the
House of Burgesses, in the early conventions, and especially in
the Convention of 1776, when he voted in favor of the resolu-
tion instructing the delegates from Virginia in Congress to pro-
pose independence, and was a member of the committee which
reported the Declaration of Rights and the Constitution, we
have already treated in detail.’® His knowledge of mathematics
was held in high repute; and when the boundary line between
Virginia and Pennsylvania, an exciting question, which had
nearly involved the two States in civil war, was about to be run, he
was placed at the head of the commission to which Virginia
assigned that delicate duty ; but, as he was unable to be pres-
ent at the meeting of the commissioners of the two States in
Baltimore, and as the arrangement made by his colleagues was
not conclusive, he was again called upon by the Assembly to
examine the subject in dispute and to report his opinion at a
subsequent session.”” In the intervals of public employments he
devoted his time to the cultivation of his estate, and was ever
pleased when he could snatch an hour from business and from
society to engage in the pursuits of science, or to enjoy the
pleasures of literature. He imported the elder as well as the
more recent productions of British genius; and the intelligent
visitor from the East, who had come into the Valley in search of
a patrimonial land.claim, and was welcomed as a guest at his
hearth, saw with unfeigned surprise, on shelves freshly made from
trees which had reared for centuries above the waters of the

15 Archibald Stuart and Thomas Lewis on the one side, and William
Graham, the Ajax Telamon of the Presbyterians of the Valley, are
instances illustrative of the fact stated in the text.

18In the discourse on the Virginia Convention of 1776, page 112.

17 His colleagues in the first instance were the Rev. James Madison
and the Rev. Robert Andrews; and in the second his brother, Andrew
Lewis, and Colonel Innes. (Journal of the House of Delegates, june

24, 1779.)
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By the side of Thomas Lewis sat his son-in-law, a man of the
ordinary height, but of a stalwart frame, whose large head, low,
receding forehead, black, bushy eyebrows, small blue eyes,
aquiline nose, bronzed features, and stern aspect, presented the
beau-ideal of that hardy race, which in the outskirts of the Com-
monwealth cultivated the earth and worshipped God with a rifle
constantly by their side and with a ball-pouch flung across the
shoulder. He had learned from his father-in-law to beguile the
cares and dangers of a frontier life with the pleasures of litera-
ture.

In his rock-built home near Lewisburg, in a cherry case as
bright as mahogany, he had collected some of the best authors
of the Augustan age of English literature. Nor were his literary
amusements unprofitable to his country. He has left to posterity
the most accurate and lifelike account of the greatest Indian
battle ever fought on the soil of Virginia; and in a neat and
truthful narrative has interwoven with charming effect the inci-
dents, of personal and general interest, developed during the
settlement of the country west of the Alleghany, of which he
was now the representative.

Such was John Stuart, of Greenbrier. He was the son of
David Stuart, who was born in Wales in 1710, who married, in-
1750, Margaret Lynn, of Loch Lynn, Scotland, and who shortly
after his marriage emigrated to Virginia, settling himself in the
county of Augusta, where his brother-in-law, john Lewis, the
father of Andrew and Thomas Lewis, resided.” David died

¥ Governor Gilmer says that the name of Colonel John Stuart’s
father was John; but my information is derived from the family records
in the possession of the accomplished granddaughter of Colonel Stuart,
Mrs. General Davis, of Fayette. Governor Gilmer states that the
father of Colonel Stuart was aun intimate personal friend of Governor
Dinwiddie, and came over with him in 1752. If this be true, then David
Stuart must have come by way of the West Indies. (*Georgians,”
page 50.) [“The probability is that Stuart had no personal connection
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early, leaving two daughters, whose reputable descendants live
in the East and in the West, and one son, whose services it is our
duty to record. Young Stuart had not the advantages of early
instruction; but he was a close observer, a diligent inquirer, and
was constant in his endeavors to improve his mind. He acquired
a knowledge of mathematics ample enough to qualify him to
perform with skill the duties of a surveyor, and was appointed by
his uncle, John Lewis, his agent in locating land-warrants in the
region now included in the county of Greenbrier. Thither he
removed, and there during fifty eventful years he continued to
reside. He settled himself on a tract of land four miles from
Camp Union, as the present site of Lewisburg was once called,
which was presented to him by his cousin, General Andrew
Lewis, which he improved and adorned with commodious build-
ings, and on which he lived until his death. In the Indian skir-
mishes of the times he was frequently engaged, and in the army
of General Andrew Lewis, which fought in October, 1771, the
memorable battle at the Point, he commanded one of the Bote-
tourt companies of Colonel Fleming’s division, and acted with
distinguished gallantry. In 1780 he was returned to the House
of Delegates by the county of Greenbrier, which three years
before had been set apart from Botetourt and Montgomery, and
in November of the following year was appointed the clerk of
the court. For more than a quarter of a century he performed
the duties of clerk of all the courts of Greenbrier with scrupu-
lous fidelity, and, retiring in his old age from public business,
was succeeded by his son, Lewis. He became the County Lieu-
tenant at a time when that office was keenly coveted by our
fathers. Indeed, the County Lieutenant® then held the same
honorable office which the Lord Lieutenant held in the parent
country, and presided in the court, commanded the militia, and
was in all public affairs the exponent of the county. His respon-
sible duties were marked out by special enactments. It was not
obligatory upon him to take the field; but if he took the field,

with Governor Dinwiddie. He certainly settled in the Valley long
before Dinwiddie became Governor of the Colony.”— Waddell's Annals
of Augusta County, page 463.—EDITOR.]

®For the rank and position of the County Lieutenant, see pages
35-36 of the Journal of the Convention of July, 177s. v
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the colonel of the regiment became lieutenant-colonel and the
lieutenant-colonel became major. It was the experience in civil
and military affairs thus acquired, and his long and intimate
acquaintance with the wants and interests of the West, that
impelled him to approve a vigorous government and to favor
the ratification of the Federal Constitution by the present Con-
vention. His sagacity led him to fear that the Indian, though
driven beyond the Ohio, might prove a dangerous foe to the
West; and he knew that it rested not with Virginia, but with Eng-
land in the North and with Spain in the West, whether there
should be peace or war within our borders; and that a coalition
between those two foreign forces might result in the extermina-
tion of the settlers west of the Blue Ridge. He viewed both
these nations with distrust; yet, if either of them should choose
to bring all the Indians within its control into the field, it would
require all the resources of the Union to repel the savages and
to punish them. With such impressions, he brought all his
influence to bear upon his countrymen, and succeeded in
securing the vote of Greenbrier in favor of the Constitution.
Nor did his affection for the Constitution cease with its adoption.
He gave a cordial support to those who were charged with its
administration, and upheld the policy of Washington and of
Adams with unwavering confidence. As he was earnest and
sincere in his political feelings, he maintained his opinions unal-
tered by the fluctuations of popular passion or by the lapse of
time, and died as he had lived—an honest, upright, and consist-
ent Federalist. He rarely spoke with severity of his opponents;
but in his letters to confidential friends he handled the foibles of
the Democratic leaders without mercy, but without venom; and
he showed his antipathy to their doctrines rather by laughing at
what he deemed their inconsistencies and absurdities than in
fierce and vulgar denunciation.” Indeed, the conspicuous trait
of his character was a decotous self-command. It was hard to
tell what impression a remark made upon him. In mixed com-
panies he was silent and reserved, and his grave deportment and
severe aspect were apt to repress the loquacity of others. He

A The letters of Colonel Stuart, addressed to the Rev. Benjamin
Grigsby during the Adams and Jefferson administrations, are in my col-
lections.
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never lost his youthful love of the rifle, which to the last he
wielded with unerring skill; and it was the delight of his old
age to wander through the forest; and he has been seen to halt
and carve a date or a name on the bark of a beech, and to sit
upon a fallen tree with his rifle on his lap, as he was wont to do
in youth when he watched the Indian enemy. Yet, with one or
two old friends he would occasionally unbend, and on such occa-
sions it was pleasing to hear him recount the early incidents of
his life and his clear and admirable estimate of the Revolution-
ary statesmen with whom he had served in the public councils.
With all his seeming sternness, he was revered by the great
body of his fellow-citizens; and his popularity was the more
honorable to him, as it arose from no concession to fashionable
follies, from no concealment of unpopular opinions, but from the
computation of solid worth in the calm judgments of the peo-
ple. His habit of self-command and the steadiness of his nerves
were remarkable even in his last hour. Like many of the early
settlers, he had insensibly caught some of the Indian traits. He
did not appear to suffer from any particular disease, but seemed,
like a soldier on duty, patiently to await the time of his final
discharge. On the evening of the 23d of August, 1823, he told
his son that his time had come; and, rising from his bed, shaved
and dressed himself with unusual care. When he had finished
his toilet he rested on the bed, and in five minutes breathed his
last. He had reached his seventy-fifth year. He was buried on
his estate, not far from the site of a fort which he had erected for
protection from the sudden forays of the Indians. A slab with
an appropriate epitaph marks the spot.

Taciturn and unbending as this worthy patriot appeared, there
was a romance in the courtship of his wife, which has become
one of the traditions of the West. About mid-day on the 10th
of October, 1774, in the town of Staunton, a little girl, the
daughter of John and Agatha Frogge, and the granddaughter of
Thomas Lewis, who was sleeping in the room in which her
mother was attending to her domestic affairs, suddenly awoke,
screaming that the Indians were murdering her father. She was
quieted by her mother, and went to sleep again. Again she
awoke, screaming that the Indians were murdering her father.
She was quieted once more, and was waked up a third time by
the same horrid vision, and continued screaming in spite of all
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the efforts of her mother to soothe and pacify her. The mother
of the child was much alarmed at the first dream ; but when the
same dreadful vision was seen by the child a third time, her
imagination, quickened by that superstition which is almost uni-
versal among the Scotch, and which the highest cultivation
rather conceals than eradicates, presented before her the lifeless
form of her husband gashed by the tomahawk of the savage.
Her cries drew together her neighbors, who, when informed of
what had occurred, joined in her lamentations, until all Staunton
was in a state of commotion. It so happened that the bloody
battle of the Point was fought on the very day when Staunton was
thus agitated, and, what was still more wonderful, John Frogge,
the father of the child who had seen the vision, was killed during
the engagement.” When Captain Stuart, at the close of the
Western campaign, visited the Valley, he saw the mother of the
affrighted child, who was his first cousin, and, as he had pro-
bably seen her husband fall and assisted in committing his body
to the grave, communicated to her the melancholy but interesting
details of his fate. The sequel is soon told. He was enter-
prising and brave; she was young and beautiful; and in due time
he conducted her as a bride to his mountain home. The ofi-
spring of this marriage were two sons and two daughters, who
survived their parents, but are now dead, leaving numerous
descendants. Mrs. Stuart outlived her husband some years,
and saw her grandchildren attain to maturity.”

There is one reflection drawn from the life of John Stuart not
undeserving our attention. While most of the early politicians
east of the mountains, though beginning life with good estates,
died poor, or were able to leave but a pittance to their families,
which were scattered abroad, their Western colleagues bequeathed
to their descendants a princely inheritance. The fine estates on
the eastern rivers, the very names of which once imparted to

22 This incident I have given in almost the identical words of Gov-
ernor Gilmer. (“ Georgians,”” page 49.)

23] knew this venerable lady in my early youth and in her extreme
old age. She was active and shrewd to the last. She was somewhat
deaf; and her son, Lewis, my early and dear friend, now too gone,
used laughingly to say that his mother could not hear ordinary conver-
sation very well, but that if you talked to her about money matters
her hearing was perfect. !
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their owners the dignity of a title, have long been alienated from
the blood of their original possessors. During the present century
four-fifths of the land on the banks of the James, and of other
rivers of the East, have been in the market. Such has not been
the case west of the mountains. We should err, however, in
ascribing the result to the superior thrift or to the superior skill of
our Western brethren. Its explanation will probably be found in
the peculiar circumstances of eack great section of country. In
the East, if a man with ten children dies leaving an old planta-
tion worth fifty thousand dollars,” as from obvious considera-
tions it was incapable of sustaining a division into ten equal
and habitable parts, it must be sold for a division. But fifty
thousand dollars’ worth of landed property in the West, as the
West was at the beginning of the present century, could be
divided indefinitely into fine plantations abounding in wood and
water. Early purchases of land may be said to be the source of
Western wealth; and for such purchases the East afforded no
opportunity. But Stuart would, under almost any circum-
stances, have been a wealthy man. In his temperament were
combined in a profuse degree the elements of worldly success.
He was systematic, patient, and economical. Debt he held in
abhorrence. Whatever progress he made was sure. He did
much for himself; but he took care that time should do more.
Thus, watching the progress of events, and rising with a rising
country, he accumulated vast wealth. Of the quarter of million
of dollars at which his estate was assessed at his death, the
greater proportion yet remains in the hands of his descendants,
and will probably remain for a century to come.

#Qur great Eastern statesmen were as prolific as their Western
brethren. If Thomas Lewis brought up thirteen children, Patrick
Henry and George Mason nearly averaged a dozen.

% The Historical Memoir of Colonel Stuart was among the earliest
publications of the Historical Society of Virginia. A portion of it may
be found in Howe, in the article on Greenbrier, and in the Historical
Register, Vol. V, 181. I read it thirty years ago in the original manu-
script, which was taken from the desk on which it was written and
handed to me for perusal. I can recall many of the books of the
Colonel’s library. They were, of course, all London editions, and in
calf binding. I acknowledge the kind assistance of Samuel Price,
Esq., and of other members of the family of Colonel Stuart.
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From the mountains of Greenbrier we pass again into the
Valley, and recall the name of a patriot who, by birth and race,
was one of its peculiar representatives, whose early life was
checkered by a various fortune, whose services as a soldier in
three arduous campaigns in the North, during which he saw
from the heights of Saratoga the surrender of the first British
General with his army to the prowess of the American arms—a
glorious result, achieved in no small measure by the valor and
skill of the corps to which he belonged; who was a member of
the Assembly in the latter years of the Revolution, and distin-
guished himself by his devotion to religious freedom; who was
a member of the House of Representatives during the entire
term of Washington’s administration; who was a leader in the
Republican party from the date of the Federal Constitution to
the close of the presidency of Jefferson; who was the first native
of the Valley elected by Virginia to the office of a Senator of
the United States, and who, having lived to behold the second
contest of his country with Great Britain and to rejoice in the
success of her arms, and, reposing in the midst of his descend-
ants in the shadow of his own vine, went down quietly, in his
sixty-eighth year, to his honored grave.

But, great as were the services rendered throughout a long
life to his country, his course in the present Conveuntion, which
had a controlling influence in effecting the ratification of the
Constitution, is not the least interesting incident in his career in
the estimation of his posterity. He had been instructed by a
majority of the voters of Rockbridge to oppose the ratification
of the Constitution; but, after due deliberation, he resolved to
disobey his instructions and to sustain that instrument. To
obey the instructions of his constituents is the most fearful
responsibility which a delegate can assume; and it is question-
able whether, in a case that is definitely settled by his vote
beyond the possibility of revision, it is susceptible of justifica-
tion. But the cognizance of the question lies altogether with the
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constituents whose wishes have been thwarted, and to these
Andrew Moore appealed on his return from the Convention, and
was sustained by an overwhelming majority of their suffrages.

Andrew Moore was of the Scotch-Irish race, to which Thomas
Lewis and John Stuart belonged. His grandfather was one of a
family of brothers who emigrated from the North of Ireland and
settled in the Valley, and in some of the Southern States. His
father, David, took, up his abode on a farm in the lower part of
Rockbridge (then Augusta), now called “ Cannicello.” The most
remote ancestor of David whom he could remember was a lady
whose maiden name was Bante, who in kLer old age came over to
this copntry, and who used to relate that, when a girl, she had
been driven to take refuge under the walls of Londonderry, had
seen many Protestants lying dead from starvation with tufts of
grass in their mouths, and had herself barely escaped alive from
the havoc of that terrible scene.

In 1752, at the homestead of “ Cannicello,” Andrew was born,
and was there brought up, availing himself of the advantages of
instruction within his reach so effectually as, before manhcod, to
become a teacher in a school of his own. He determined to
study law, and attended, about 1772, a course of lectures under
Wythe, at William and Mary. Fascinated by a love of adven-
ture, he embarked for the West Indies, was overtaken by a
tempest, and was cast away on a desert island. To sustain life
the shipwrecked party was compelled to live on reptiles, and
especially on a large species of lizard, the flavor of which, even
in old age, the venerable patriot could readily remember. From
this inhospitable abode he was at length rescued by a passing
vessel; and he went to sea no more.

The Revolution was now in progress, the Declaration of
Independence was promulgated, and Virginia had erected a
form of government of her own, and appealed to her citizens to
maintain it in the field. Andrew Moore hearkened to the call,
and accepted a lieutenantcy in the company of Captain John
Hays, of Morgan’s Rifle Corps. As soon as he received his
commission he attended a log-rolling in his neighborhood, and
enlisted in one day nineteen men—being nearly the whole num-
ber present capable of bearing arms. Such was the spirit of
patriotism that animated the bosoms of his countrymen. He
continued in the army three years, and served most of that time
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in Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and New York. He participated
in all the engagements which terminated in the capture of the
British army under Burgoyne, and saw that accomplished Gene-
ral play a part in a drama of deeper interest than the one which
he wrote for the entertainment of a London audience. At the
expiration of three years’ service in the army, having attained
the rank of captain, he resigned his commission, in consequence
of the number of supernumerary officers, and returned to Rock-
bridge.

In April, 1780, he entered on his legislative career, which he
was destined to pursue for nearly the third of a century, and to
close with the highest honor which can be attained in that
department of the public service. As soon as he entered the
House of Delegates he was placed on the Committee of Reli-
gion, and it should be remembered forever to his praise that he
was from the first the earnest and consistent advocate of religious
freedom in all its largest sense. He was a member of the body
when Tarleton made his famous effort to capture it in full session
at Charlottesville. He acted with the party of which Henry was
the head; nor until he took his seat in the present Convention
did he depart from the policy marked out by the great tribune
of the people. On the 17th day of December, 1785, true to the
principles of the race from which he sprung, and, in unison with
the spirit of that remarkable era in which he lived, he voted for
the memorable act ‘‘establishing religious freedom.””* And

% As several of the members of the Convention voted with Moore on
that occasion, I annex, for the sake of reference, the ayes and noes on
the passage of the bill in the House of Delegates:

Aves—Joshua Fry, Wilson Cary Nickolas, Joseph Eggleston, Sam'!
Jordan Cabell, Zachariah Johnston, Michael Bowyer, Jokn Trigg,
Robert Clark, George Hancock, Archibald Stuart, William Anderson,
Hickerson Barksdale, John Clarke (of Campbell), Samuel Hawes,
Anthony New, John Daniel, Henry Southall, Frenck Strother, Henry
Fry, Willilam Gatewood, Meriwether Smitk, Charies Simms, David
Stuart, William Pickett, Thomas Helm, C. Greenup, James Garrard,
George Thomson, Alexander While, Charles Thurston, Thomas Smitk,
George Clendinen, John Lucas, Jeremiah Pate, Ralph Humphreys,
Isaac Vanmeler, George Jackson, Nathaniel Wilkinson, John Mayo, Jr.,
John Rentfro, William Norvell, John Roberts, William Dudley, Thomas
Moore, Carter Braxton, Benjamin Temple, Francis Peyton, Christopher
Robertson, Samuel Garland, Benjamin Logan, David Scott, William

3
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when, on the 16th of January following, the bill came down from
the Senate with three amendments, two of which were critical
and explanatory, and the third of which proposed to strike out
the words, ‘“ that the religious opinions of men are not the object
of civil government, nor under its jurisdiction,” he assented to
the two first, but voted against concurring with the last in a
minority of twenty-seven; thus affirming in the most positive
manner that the religious opinions of men are not within the
range of legislation.”” During the following session—which
began in October, 1786, and ended on the 11th of January,
1787—he voted for the appointment of commissioners to meet
at Annapolis, and afterwards voted to appoint delegates to the
Federal Convention, which should assemble in Philadelphia for
the purpose of proposing amendments to the Articles of Con-
federation. 3

In the present Convention, as before observed, he sustained
the Constitution proposed by the General Convention, and
opposed the adoption of the third amendment of the series
which*was reported by the select committee, and which reserved

Pettijohn, Robert Sayres, Daniel Trigg, William H. Macon, Griffin
Stith, David Bradford, James Madison, Charles Porter, William Harri-
son, Benjamin Lankford, John Clarke (of Prince Edward), Richard
Bibb, Cuthbert Bullilf, Daniel Carroll Brent, Williamson Ball, Azdrew
Moore, John Hopkins, Gawin Hamilton, /seaac Zane, John Tayloe,
John W. Willis, Andrew Kincannon, and James Innes—74.

Noes—Thomas Claiborne, Miles King, Worlich Westwood, John Page,
Garland Anderson, Elias Wills, William Thornton, Francis Corbin,
Willis Riddick, Daniel Sandford, John Gordon, Edward Bland,
Anthony Walke, George L. Turberville, William Garrard, John F. Mer-
cer, Carter B. Harrison, Richard Cary, Jr., Wilson Cary, and Richard
Lee—20.

The italics point out the members of the present Convention who
voted on the bill.

7 As Madison, Harrison, and other prominent men of the popular
party voted in the majority of fifty-three, I am inclined to believe that
they did so lest, by sending the bill back again to the Senate when the
session had only two days to run, they might jeopard its passage. In
the negative were the names of Zachariah Johnston, John Tyler,
French Strother, Willis Riddick, Andrew Moore, Isaac Zane, and
Thomas Mathews, members of the present Convention, all of whom
(except Riddick) sustained the original bill. See Journal of the House
of Delegates, January 16, 1786.
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to the State the privilege of collecting the Federal quotas
through her own officers. He was elected to the first Congress
under the Constitution ; and it soon appeared that, eager as he
was to procure the ratification of that instrument by Virginia, he
was resolved to watch its workings with unceasing vigilance,
and to insist upon the strictest construction of its powers. On
Wednesday, the 18th of March, 1790, he took his seat in the
House of Representatives, then sitting in New York, and took
an active part in its proceedings. In the arrangement of the
new tariff he guarded the interests of the farmer, and contended
that, as hemp could be grown in the Southern States, it should
receive the same encouragement that was extended to the manu-
facturers by a tax on cordage. He opposed the heavy duty on
salt as being hard upon those who raised cattle, and argued with
spirit against the discrimination of pay in favor of the Senators
over the members of the House of Representatives as deroga-
tory and unjust. It was on the questions growing out of the
treaty negotiated by Mr. Jay with Great Britain that he spoke
more at length than he had yet done, and ably defended the rule
of the House of Representatives asserting its constitutional
rights in relation to treaties; and exposed the unequal and
unjust stipulations of the treaty itself. When in 1793 the propo-
sition was brought forward to reduce the army, he went into a
minute history of Indian affairs, and proved what was after-
wards established by a severe sacrifice of human life, that regu-
lars, and not militia, were the proper troops for Indian wars.® In
1797 he withdrew with Madison and Giles from the House of
Representatives, and determined by a vigorous course of mea-
sures in the Virginia Assembly to change the current of Federal
politics. He supported the resolutions passed by that body in
1798, and the celebrated report presented by Madison at the
succeeding session. In 1803 he returned to the House of Repre-
sentatives, and in the following year was elected for a full term
to the Senate of the United States. While he remained in the
Senate he upheld the policy of the Republican party, and gave
to the administration of Jefferson a cordial and most effective
support. On the conclusion of his senatorial term he declined
a re-election, and withdrew from public life. He was appointed

8 RBenton’s Debatles, Vol. 1, 36, 39, 124, 411, 727,
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by Mr. Madison marshal of the district of Virginia, and when
subsequently the district was divided he remained the marshal of
the Eastern district, performing its duties until his death, on the
14th of April, 1821. Some years before his death he was elected
by the Assembly a general of brigade, and afterwards major-
general. He was of the middle height, stoutly built, and even
in old age was capable of enduring fatigue and exposure. In
bis visits to Norfolk, which he made in the discharge of the
duties of his office, he always rode on horseback. He died at
Lexington, and was buried there.”

21t was on one of his visits to Norfolk that I saw General Moore
for the first and only time. He was then about sixty-six, but in his
step and conversation he appeared to my young eyes as a man about
the middle age. It was his elder brother William, and not Andrew, as
stated by Howe and Foote, who was at the battle of Point Pleasant.
When Colonel John Steele was shot during the fight by an Indian, who
was about to scalp him, William Moore shot the Indian, and knocking
another Indian down with his rifle shouldered Steele, who was a large
man, and taking his own rifle and Steele’s in the other hand, carried
him a hundred yards back, and then returned to the fight. Steele,
who recovered from his wound, used to say that William Moore was
the only man in the army who could have carried him off if he woxnld,
or that would have carried him off if he cox/d. William was a lieu-
tenant in the militia at the siege of York. He was very strong, and
told a nephew that he never drank a pint of spirits in the whole course
of his life. He lived to the age of ninety-three. There is a miniature

of General Moore in the possession of his widow.
[ 4
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The colleague of Moore from Rockbridge was Colonel William
McKee, who was descended from the same Scotch-Irish race,
and evinced in a long career in the House of Delegates a firm
determination to overturn those institutions, which, however
well adapted to embellish and adorn an aristocratic state of
society, are out of place in a republic. Hence, he gave a hearty
support to the bills reported by the Committee of Revisers, and
though he was not one of that illustrious band which, amid the
rebukes of the selfish and the prejudices of even wise and hon-
orable men, recorded the act establishing religious freedom on
the statute-book of the Commonwealth, he warmly approved the
measure. He had been engaged in several encounters with the
Indians, had fought gallantly at Point Pleasant, and had acquired
a high reputation for integrity, energy, and ability. He was a
member of the House of Delegates at the winter session of 1786,
and voted to send commissioners to Annapolis, and subsequently
to the General Convention, which was summoned to revise the
Articles of Confederation. Like his colleague, Moore, he took
the responsibility of disobeying the instructions of his constitu-
ents, enjoining upon him to oppose the ratification of the Federal
Constitution, and received an honorable acquittal at their hands.
On the adjournment of the Convention he removed to Ken-

. tucky, where he spent the remainder of his days.®

The representatives of Botetourt were two men who exerted
a great influence on public opinion in the West, and were among
the most patriotic and steadfast of their generation. Both Mar-
tin McFerran and William Fleming were of Scotch descent.
McFerran, who belonged to the great Scotch Irish family that
passed from Pennsylvania into the Valley, and who derived his
Christian name from a clergyman, who as early as 1759 went
forth as a missionary among the Indians, and was, it is believed,

3 For the religious aspects of his character, see Foole's Skelches of
Virginia, first series, page 447.
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slaughtered by them, was for several years before the meeting
of the Convention an active member of the House of Delegates,
and maintained a prominent place on the committees of that
body at a time when a few leading names only were found upon
them. He, in common with his more distinguished colleague,
was, in the first instance, opposed to the ratification of the Fed-
eral Constitution, and it is probable that but for the fervid elo-
quence of Archibald Stuart on the day of the election of the
members of the Convention, which persuaded the voters to
elicit pledges from the candidates, would, as in earlier days,
have ranged under the banner of Patrick Henry. But he
regarded the expressed will of his constituents as a rule of
action, and not only voted in favor of the adoption of the Con-
stitution, but opposed the scheme of previous amendments.
And when the celebrated memorial to Congress adopted by the
House of Delegates of which he was a member, on the 14th day
of November following the adjournment of the Convention,
which insisted “in the most earnest and solemn manner that a
Convention of deputies from the several States be immediately
called, with full power to take into their consideration the defects
of the Federal Constitution that have been suggested by the
State Conventions, and report such amendments thereto as they
shall find best suited to promote our common interests, and
secure to ourselves and the ‘latest posterity the great and
unalienable rights of mankind,”’* he voted for the milder propo-

s For the two memorials which strikingly exhibit the temper of the
times, see the Journal of the House of Delegates of November 14,
1788. The first memorial was probably from the pen of Henry, and
the substitute from the pen of Edmund Randolph. The substitute
was lost—ayes 50, noes 72—and then the original memorial was carried
without a division. As itis interesting to trace the action of the mem-
bers of the Convention, some fifty odd of whom were members of the
House of Delegates when the memorials were offered, I annex their
votes for and against the substitute :

AvEeEs—Mr. Speaker (General Mathews), Wilson C. Nicholas, Zacha-
riah Johnston, Martin McFerran, David Stuart, John Shearman Wood-
cock, Alexander White, Thomas Smitk, George Clendenin, Daniel
Fisher, Robert Breckenridge (Kentucky), Levin Powell. William Over-
ton Callis, Francis Corbin, Ralph Wormeley, William Ronald, Walker
Tomlin, Joho Allen.

Noes—William Cabell, John Trigg, Henry Lee (Kentucky), Notlay
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WILLIAM FLEMING.

Colonel William Fleming was not a member of the General
Assembly which held its sessions in 1788; but on the first vote
by ayes and noes in the Convention he separated from his col-
leagues and sustained the schedule of amendments proposed by
the select committee. The life of this remarkable man richly
merits a deliberate record. For forty years he was engaged in
the military and civil trusts of the Colony and of the Common-
wealth; and signalized himself by his valor, his incorruptible’
integrity, and his ardent patriotism, all of which qualities were
combined with and exalted by a pure moral character, by great
domestic virtues, and by a deep sense of religion. He was born
on the 18th day of February, 1729, in the town of Jedburgh,
Scotland, a little village made familiar to the world by the genius
of Scott. He was the son of Leonard and Dorothea Fleming,
and was nearly allied to the Earl of Wigton and Lord Fleming.
When the title of the earldom of Wigton was in abeyance on
the death of the last earl without issue, which happened after
the Revolution, Fleming was urged to visit Scotland and claim
the succession; but, true to the principles of the memorable event
which he had helped to achieve, he preferred to remain in Vir-
ginia and bring up his large family in a new country, alleging
that he had no wish to make his eldest son, who was already
well provided for by his maternal grandfather, a rich man, and
his other children poor. When we recall what Scotland was at
that time, we are inclined to approve, on grounds disconnected
from politics, the wisdom of his choice. That he had no unkind
feelings toward his Scotch relations, and that he cherished the
memories of his distinguished lineage, is evident from the fact
that he called his beautiful estate in Botetourt (now in Roanoke)
by the name of *“ Bellmont,” a seat of the Flemings, which he had
visited in his early days. That lineage had long been illustrious,
and was intimately connected with the unfortunate but beautiful
Queen of Scotland, whose character is one of the puzzles of
modern history. It will be remembered that, when Mary was
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prohibited from taking more than two female friends to share
with her the solitude of Lochle%en. one of the most touching of
modern fictions represents one of them to have been a Fleming.

His parents were in moderate circumstances, but were able to
afford him the means of a liberal education. He attended the
school of a Mr. Totten in Dumfries, a good classical teacher;
and, having to make his way in the world by his own exertions,
he chose the calling of a surgeon, and prosecuted his studies in
the University of Edinburgh. At the close of his terms he
entered the British navy as asurgeon’s mate ; and while engaged
in the service was taken prisoner in his vessel by the Spaniards,
who took him to Spain, where he was treated with great cruelty.
He was strictly confined to his prison, but when his health began

“to fail he was allowed to walk in a small garden connected with
the jail. So scanty was his fare, and of such indifferent quality,
he would have perished with hunger but for the benevolence
and sympathy of a Spanish lady, whose residence overlooked
the garden, and who supp'ied him at intervals with nourishing
food. Her naine he could never learn, but her kindness he never
forgot; and to the last day of his life he would not allow persons
in want, apparent or real, to be turned from his door, lest, as he
sometimes said with a smile, they might be descended from the
good Spanish lady, but, in truth, from the impulses of his owyn
generous heart. Possibly, too, we may see in this incident an
explanation of his tender affection for the female sex which was
conspicuous in his character, and of that affectionate devotion to
his wife which shines so sweetly through all his letters.

When he was relieved from confinement he was resolved to
resign his appointment in the navy, which from the first was
uncongenial to his taste, and try his fortunes in the Colony of
Virginia. Governor Dinwiddie, a Scotchman, had then been
promoted from a berth in the customs of Barbadoes to the office
of Lieutenant Governor of Virginia; and it is probable that, as
an intimacy was soon formed between the Governor and young
Fleming, the latter had brought over very flattering letters from
Scotland.® In August, 1755, he landed in Norfolk, and visiting

32 A number of clever Scotchmen came to the Colony in I?inwiddie’s
time with letters from his relatives in Scotland; and when the young
Virginians visited England he was ever ready to introduce them
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Williamsburg he determined to embrace the profession of arms.
A few days before his arrival, and while he was on his passage
to Virginia, the battle of Monongahela had been fought. Brad-
dock, Halket, and Shirley had fallen, and the general route of
the army had laid the whole West open to the incursions of the
French and the Indians. Under such circumstances it was not
difficult for an active and intelligent young man of six and
twenty to obtain a commission; and on the 25th of August he
was appointed ensign in the Virginia regiment commanded by
Colonel George Washington. It may seem strange that he did
not choose a place in the medical staff; but he cherished a spirit
of adventure, and it is probable that he had already shown a
taste for war, as he bore on the bridge of his nose the mark of
a sabre cut which he may have received in the fight with the
Spaniards. His commission as ensign is printed on a folio
sheet, the names and dates filled up in a fine hand, and the ink
as bright as it was the day it was used; and bears the large,
straggling signature of Robert Dinwiddie, which reminds us of
the signature of Stephen Hopkins to the Declaration of Inde-
pendence.

After serving faithfully in the grades of ensign and lieutenant,
he received on the 22d of May, 1762, the commission of captain
i the Virginia regiment commanded by Colonel Adam Stephen.
This commission, which is also before me, is printed on parch-
ment about the size of a half foolscap sheet, and is signed by
Governor Francis Fauquier. The term of the military service
of Fleming included one of the darkest periods in the annals of
the Colony. The letters of Washington faithfully portray the
exigencies of that epoch. Even the heart of Washington,
familiar as he was with the cruelties of the Indians, grew sick,
and he declared that, if by his death he could restore peace and
safety to the frontier, he would lay down his life without hesi-
tation. At this trying time Fleming performed his duty with
unfaltering devotion to his adopted country; and it was not
until the general pacification took place the following year that
he resigned his commission.

abroad. Samuel Davies, among others, received this courtesy at his
hands, and gracefully acknowledges the attentions he received from
Dinwiddie’s relatives in Scotland.
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He was now to change his mode of life and to resume his old
profession. In selecting a new home he came to Staunton, in the
county of Augusta, where he settled and engaged in the prac-
tice of physic. Here he became acquainted with the family of
Isaac Christian, one of the early settlers of the town, who was
a prosperous merchant, and was rich in Western lands. The
name of Christian is honorably known in the records of the
West, and his blood flows in the veins of hundreds now living
in Kentucky and in other Southern States. It was William, the
eldest son of Isaac, whose name is intimately connected with
our early Indian history, and whose murder by the savages, per-
petrated with all the subtle refinements of Indian cruelty, has
nerved the white man in many a bloody contest with his tawny
foes, and will draw tears from generations yet unborn. To
Anne, the sister of William, who was then living, and one of the
most prominent men of the West, Fleming paid his addresses;
and on the gth of April, 1763, she became his wife.*

A few years after his marriage he withdrew from the practice
of medicine, and went to reside permanently on the estate in
Botetourt (now Roanoke), which he received from his father-in-
law, and which, as before stated, he called * Bellmont”’; and here
he lived, unless when absent in his various public employments,
until his death. At that time the Indians made frequent incur-
sions into the settlements, and his first office was to build a log
house or fort (the feudal castle of the West), and to this fortress
the people of the neighborhood flocked on the discovery of
Indian signs. On one occasion, when the neighbors had col-
lected in the building, one of the sisters of Mrs. Fleming, who
was slightly indisposed, had thrown herself on a bed beneath a
window ; and presently looking up, she beheld the face of an

3 As I write for Virginians and the descendants of Virginians, who
are curious in tracing the origin of the settlers of Kentucky and other
Southern States, it may be well enough to say that Isaac Christian had
one son., William, mentioned in the text, who married a sister of
Patrick Henry, and left several daughters, who married in Kentucky :
Anne, who married Colonel Fleming ; Rose, who married Judge Caleb
Wallace, of Kentucky; Mary, who married Colonel Stephen Trigg;
Elizabeth, who married Colonel William Bowyer, of Botetourt; and
Priscilla, who died early. Fleming, Trigg, and Christian counties in
Kentucky were called after the brothers-in-law.



44 VIRGINIA CONVENTION OF 1788.

Indian warrior examining the room. She instantly gave the
alarm, and a strict search was made, but without success; and it
was generally believed, in spite of the earnest protestations of
the lady, that there was some illusion or mistake in the case.
Some years later, when a deputation of Indians, on their return
from Richmond, called at “ Bellmont,” one of the chiefs observed
that he had been there before, and had looked through the win-
dow, but finding the whites ready to repel an attack, had quietly
departed.

The first important trust that Fleming filled after his removal
to Botetourt was that of colonel of the regiment of militia which
marched to the Ohio and which performed so gallant a part in
the battle of Point Pleasant. Allusions have been frequently
made in this work to that battle, and we subjoin in a note the
best sources of information on the subject* Suffice it to say,
that Colonel Charles Lewis and Colonel Fleming, in the early
part of the fight, were ordered by General Lewis to detail a
portion of their forces under their oldest captains, and to
advance in the direction of the reported enemy. The two colo-
nels, hastening on as directed, sent forward scouts, and while
yet in sight of the camp guards heard the discharge of mus-
ketry and saw the scouts fall; and in a few moments received a
heavy fire along their entire line. Both the colonels fell badly
wounded, and were in due time borne into the fort. Lewis died
before the fate of the day was decided; but Fleming, though
believed to be mortally wounded, joined in the shout of victory.
He had received three balls—one in his right wrist, which
crushed the bones; another in the same arm, higher up; and the
third in his breast. Before reaching the fort the extravasated
blood had gathered in the cavity of the chest, which seemed to
protrude, and he was in such a state of intense suffering as to
preclude all hope of relief. In this emergency, while the sur-
geons were attending to those who appeared likely to recover,
Fleming called to his aid his negro servant, who had frequently
assisted him in surgical operations, and instructed him to follow
his prescriptions. This ball in the breast was never extracted;

3 Colonel John Stuarl’s Historical Memoir, Foole's Skelches of Vir-
ginia, second series, 159-168, and Charles Campbell's History of Vir-
ginia, 179, first edition.
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and from this time to his death in 1795, a period of twenty-one
years, he was more or less an invalid. When he exerted his
strength—often when he rode on horseback—the ball made itself
felt. It would rise up for the distance of two inches, causing at
times much suffering, and then fall down again to its old bed.
That with such a drawback he persisted in making numerous
journeys to Richmond and Williamsburg, and to the extreme
West, at a time when the back of a horse was the only means
of travel, shows great perseverance and energy.

With great caution, united to medical skill, he was enabled to
render material service to his country. Soon after the organi-
zation of the State government he became a Senator from the
district composed of the counties of Montgomery, Botetourt,
and Kentucky, and a member of the Executive Council; and
when we reflect that then the Indians were almost as formidable
as the British, and were, in fact, subsidized by them, his know-
ledge of the Indian character, and his military talents which had
been trained in many a contest with that wary foe, were emi-
nently useful. His letters and papers show the active part
which he took, especially in Western affairs. From some of
those letters, written on coarse paper and somewhat mutilated,
an interesting picture of the cares and wants, the hopes and
fears of that day may be drawn. In a letter to his wife from
Williamsburg, dated October the 3oth, 1778, and written before
the currency had greatly depreciated, he says: “I have sent
you half a pound of Hyson tea at forty shillings, half a pound
of green tea at twenty shillings, and half a pound of Bohea at
ten shillings. I have sent you a pound of pins at three pounds.
No coffee to be got. We have nothing new here, except the
high price of grain—corn five pounds a barrel, wheat four dol-
lars. I hope this will find you and all the little ones in health.
I trust God will preserve them and all the rest of the family. I
have much té say, but no time, as Colonel Christian is waiting.
God bless and protect you.”’

Writing to his wife from Williamsburg, May 20, 1779, he
describes the taking of Portsmouth, and narrates some instances
of British cruelty not to be found elsewhere: ‘“ Four ships of
force and others (in all seventeen) came to anchor near Ports-
mouth the gth instant, and next day landed and took possession
of the town; Major Mathews, who commanded a part of the
artillery battalion, retiring after spiking the cannon. 'A large
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quantity of tobacco, provisions, and some military stores fell
into their hands. A party of the enemy marched to Suffolk,
and burned the town. On hearing that General Scott was
marching against them, they hastily retreated, doing all the
damage they could. Many of my old friends and acquaintances
have suffered greatly by having their houses burned, and their
negroes and stock taken, and the women made captives of and
exposed to the greatest insults they can be subjected to.
Another party of the British, meeting with some trading French-
men, butchered five of them in cold blood, and strangled three.
The captain of a French vessel informed me that they had taken
two vessels near Gwinna’s Island, one of them his own; that a
snow fought them bravely. The other did not fire; and the
British murdered their crews with shocking barbarity, one man
having his eyes cut out, and his body mangled with worse than
Russian barbarity. They threaten to visit Hampton and York.
Thank God, we are prepared for them; every day men pouring
in, and a thousand came in to-day. By the next opportunity I
hope to send you a favorable account of the issue of this affair.
The strength of the enemy is known by deserters to be two
thousand five hundred. Old Guthridge,® James Parker,® and

% A corruption of the name—John Goodrich, ship-owner and mer-
chant; at first enjoyed the confidence of the Whigs, and was employed
to import gunpowder to the amount of 5,000, with which sum he was
entrusted in advance. Under this engagement he incurred the dis-
pleasure of Lord Dunmore, who caused him to be seized and confined.
In January, 1776, he petitioned the Virginia Convention for an adjust-
ment of his accounts, which caused much debate in that body, and led
to the development of fraud by himself and sons. In March, 1776, the
father and his sons—John, William, Bartlett, Bridger, and another
(five)—had abandoned their houses, plantations, negroes, and stock,
and were serving the Crown under Lord Dunmore, who had five of
their vessels in his fleet, under orcers to constantly run up the rivers
of Virginia and seize, burn, or destroy everything that was water-
borne. John Goodrich was captured by the authorities of Virginia,
and was for a time in prison and in chains. Finally, released, he went
to England, but returned and engaged in fitting out privateers. His
daughter, Agatha Wells, married Robert Shedden, a loyalist, whose
descendants in England are persons of consideration. (Sabine’s Loyal-
ists of the American Revolution, page 480) There are many descend-
ants of Goodrich in Virginia.—EDITOR.

% Of Norfolk, Va., merchant ; appointed Captain. (Sabine.)—EDITOR.
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Parson Agnew® are said to be active with them.” After recount-
ing these outrages of the British, which were in the same
vicinity in 1812, with equal if not greater brutality, his thoughts
recur homeward: “I am anxious to hear from you and to know
how my dear children are. Is there danger from the small-pox
or from the enemy? If from either, let me know. There is
such a bustle about me I cannot say anything more. I must
suppress the emotions I feel rising, and only say what I have
constantly told you, and what I know you believe, that I am ever
yours.”

In November, 1780, when the currency had become depre-
ciated, he writes to his wife from Richmond: ‘“Robert Preston
took up the box, in which you will receive thirty-three pounds
of sugar, a pair of shoes, a pair of breeches and waistcoat; like-
wise two papers of pins, which cost one hundred and tnirty dol-
lars (if you think proper you may spare one of the papers, as I
shall get some pound pins), half a pound of allspice at thirty
dollars, and eight pounds of coffee at thirty dollars a pound, &c.”
These items explain the scarcity of those days as well as the
currency. He adds: “ Colonel Campbell has the thanks of the
House for his behavior at King’s Mountain, and a present of a
fine horse equipped, and a sword.”” As he is about to close his
letter, recollections of his distant home burst upon him. “O,
my little ones! let me hear how they are, and believe me ever
yours.” * In this letter he announces the appointment of General
Greene as the successor of General Gates in command of the
Southern army—an appointment of precious memory to this
hour from the Potomac to St. Mary’s.

He had received the commission of County Lieutenant of
Botetourt as early as the st of April, 1776. This office had
been established anew by the July Convention of 1775, and its
duties were prescribed by the ordinance. During the interval of
1775 and the establishment of the Constitution in July, 1776, the
commission was signed by the Committee of Safety. As the
ordinance contained no form of a commission, as it was careful
to prescribe in the case of the colonel commanding in chief the

% Rev. John Agnew, rector of Suffolk parish; became Chaplain of
the Queen’s Rangers ; died near Fredericton, New Brunswick, in 1812,
aged eighty-five years. (Sabine.)—EDITOR.
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forces of the Colony, and as it is probable that no copy of a
commission of County Lieutenant issued by the Committee of
Safety is in existence, with the exception of Colonel Fleming’s,
now before me, I will recite its words: “ The Committee of Safety
of the Colony of Virginia to William Fleming, Esq : By virtue
of the power and authority invested in us by the delegates and
representatives of the several counties and corporations, in
General Convention assembled, we, reposing especial trust and
confidence in your patriotism, fidelity, courage, and good conduct,
do by these presents constitute and appoint you to be Lieu-
tenant and Commander-in-Chief of the militia of the county of °
Botetourt; and you are, therefore, carefully and diligently to
discharge the trust reposed in you by disciplining all officers
and soldiers under your command. And we do hereby require
them to obey you as their County Lieutenant; and you are to
observe and follow all such orders and directions as you shall
from time to time receive from the Convention, the Committee
of Safety for the time beirg, or any superior officers, according
to the rules and regulations established by the Convention.
Given under our hands, at Williamsburg, this 4th day of April,
1776.”" It is signed by Dudley Digges, Paul Carrington, James
Mercer, Thomas Ludwell Lee, William Cabell, and Thomas
Walker. An endorsement on the commission is in the following
words: “ May, Botetourt County Committee, 1776.—I do hereby
certify that the within-named William Fleming, Esq., took the
oath required by the Convention. Teste: David May, Clerk.”
The commission is printed lengthwise on a half foolscap sheet.
The signatures of the Committee of Safety are all distinct, legible
at a glance, and like ordinary writing, except Mercer’s, which
has an elaborate flourish, strongly reminding us of the times
when the old feudal barons found it easier to deal in hiero-
glyphics than to write simple words, though those words made
up their own names.

In June, 1779, he was placed at the head of a commission
consisting of James Steptoe, Edward Lyne, and James Barbour,
for carrying into execution an act of Assembly entitled an act
for adjusting and settling the title of claimers to unpatented
lands under the present and former governments previous to the
establishment of the Commonwealth Land Office in Kentucky.
This office, which required a minute knowledge of the land
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laws, and stern personal courage to resist the passions peculiar
to squatters, he performed with great credit to himself and to
the entire satisfaction of the Executive and the General Assem-
bly. At that time, and long subsequently, the traveller to Ken-
tucky incurred no little personal risk; and on one occasion
his party was attacked by the Indians, who were fortunately
repulsed.

It was the custom of the patriots who controlled the public
councils during the Revolution, when any important duty was
to be performed, to select the best man for the purpose, and to
throw the responsibility of a refusal upon him. Thus it was
that, notwithstanding the inconvenience arising from his wounds,
which rendered him susceptible of what he called rheumatic
attacks, Fleming was constantly called upon in Western affairs;
and his energy and patriotism always impelled him to respond
to the call of his country. Accordingly, on the 2gth of January,
1782, he was placed at the head of a commission issued by
Governor Harrison, composed of Thomas Marshall, the father
of the Chief Justice, Samuel McDowell, the ancestor of the late
Governor McDowell, and Caleb Wallace, afterwards a judge of
the State of Kentucky, ‘‘to call to account all officers, agents,
commissaries, quartermasters, and contractors, who have been
or are in service in the Western country (then extending to the
Mississippi), belonging to this State, for all their proceedings,
and to liquidate the accounts of all such persons, as well as those
who may still have any claim or claims against the Common-
wealth, and make a special report thereof to the Executive.”’
The commission was invested with the power of choosing its
secretary, of calling and summoning before it all public officers
in the Western country, and of doing all things necessary to
accomplish its object; and in April of the following year he was
appointed by Governor Harrison commissary to the troops
that then were in Kentucky, and to the militia that may be sent
there, for the purpose of building and garrisoning a fort at the
mouth of Kentucky river.

As a member of the Senate from the district made up of
Botetourt, Washington, and Kentucky counties he was punctual
in his attendance upon its sessions, and gave efficient support in
conducting the war and in furthering those domestic reforms
which then engaged the attention of the Assembly. It was by

4
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the aid of such men as William Fleming that the relics of feudal
policy, which disfigured the Colonial regime, were extirpated
from our new system.

Having thus during the third of a century passed through all
the grades of military service, from an ensign to a colonel, and
filled the most responsible trusts which his connection with the
Senate and the Council entailed upon him, and having seen the
humble Colony which he had entered thirty-three years before
assume her station as a sovereign member of a great Confedera-
tion, he fondly hoped that his public career was ended, and that
he would be called abroad no more. But a great question,
which shook the State to its centre, rose suddenly before him,
and he was called to the metropolis once more as a mem-
ber of the Convention called to consider a new Federal Con-
stitution.

His views of a Federal Union were those of a statesman; and
he correctly estimated its value in respect of the country at
large, but more especially of the distant and thinly-settled West.
He knew, as well as any man living, that so long as Spain held
Louisiana, and Great Britain held the Canadas, Indian troubles
would be frequent, and that all the resources of all the States
would be required to repress the hostilities of the Indian tribes
in the pay of those foreign powers. But he also knew the
innate dread of the tax-gatherer by a people who had no outlet
for the products of their farms, and, of course, no money, and
he shrunk from a system of direct taxation by Federal authority.
Hence he would have preferred a strictly Federal Union, which
would bear upon the States rather than upon the people; and it
is probable that, but for the visit of the eloquent and enthusiastic
Stuart to the Botetourt election heretofore alluded to, which
resulted in instructions to the members of the Convention, he
would have sided with the opponents of the Federal Constitu-
tion. But, yielding to those instructions which the Rockbridge
delegates did not hesitate to disobey, he voted in favor of ratifi-
cation; but at the last call of the ayes and noes in Convention,
as has been already stated, he parted from his colleague and
sustained the schedule of amendments which were proposed by
the select committee, and which were adopted by a majority of
twenty.

He saw the intimate relation of knowledge and freedom, and
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became an active promoter of education in the Commonwealth.
Had it depended upon him, all Mr. Jefferson’s schemes of
schools would have been in full operation before the close of the
war. He aided in providing fuuds for the benefit of Hampden-
Sidney;* and he was one of the first Board of Trustees of
Washington College. But he knew that academies were quite as
useful as colleges; and at a time when elementary education was
little thought of in the West or in the East, he used his influence
with the General Assembly in the establishment of a literary
fund for the great western counties.® He cultivated a taste for
letters throughout his varied and various career, and he was one
of the few residents of the West that had a good collection of
books. Beside the leading medical authors which he read pro-
fesssionally, he possessed some of the best English classics,
especially the historians and the theologians. His Tillotson,
bearing the signs of thorough reading and annotated by his
hand, is, I believe, still in existence. And it deserves to be
remarked that, of all his letters to his family, though written
hastily, as most of them were—sometimes in the bustle of a
tavern, at others in camp or in the wilderness—few there are that
do not contain some allusion to a Superintending Power, and a
commitment of his family to His care.

In the practical business of life he was, like most Scotchmen
who turn their backs upon Toryism and brandy, not only suc-
cessful, but highly prosperous. He invested largely in Kentucky
lands, and was able to provide well for his family. Had his
lands been judiciously managed after his decease, they would
have conferred great wealth upon all his descendants. His hos-
pitality was always on a liberal scale. The first eight years of
his life in Virginia, when he was not engaged in his compaigns,
were spent in Williamsburg and in its vicinity; and entering
into society with a zest made more keen by the hardships and,
dangers of a camp, and uniting in his person the qualities (then
rare) of a scholar and a soldier, who bore the prestige of noble
blood, he acquired a quiet dignity of address and a polished
courtesy which were conspicuous in his old age; and his intimate

3 Judge Paul Carrington, Sr., to Fleming, in the Fleming papers.
A copy of the petition to the Assembly may be seen in the Fleming
papers.
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acquaintance with all the distinguished actors of his time was
refreshed by visits from them whenever they came within reach
of his house. And the traveller from the East or from the
West looked forward with longing to the hospitable mansion at
‘“ Bellmont.”

The last days of this estimable patriot were now at hand.
Writing to a niece in England the year before his death, he says:
‘I have retired from all public business for several years; am
now old, my constitution broken, maimed by several wounds,
and am often attacked by violent pains in my limbs, brought on
by colds and by many years’ severe duty in a military line. I am
just able to walk a little, after a month’s confinement to my bed
and room. When well I am employed in my family affairs, and
in the support cf a pretty numerous family in a part of the
country where little business is carried on.”” He lingered to the
following year, when on the sth day of August, 1795, in his
sixty-sixth year, he breathed his last. His remains were interred
in the burial-ground at “ Bellmont” by the side of his deceased
children. At a late day the body of his wife was placed by him.
A substantial stone wall protects the remains; but, in common
with most of our early patriots, no stone tells the passer-by who
rests beneath.*

# Colonel Fleming had twelve or fourteen children, of whom seven
survived him. Of these Leonard, the eldest son, removed to Ken-
tucky before his father’'s death, and lived to the age of eighty-four
Eliza, who married first the Rev. Cary Allen, and afterwards the Rev.
Samuel Ramsey ; Dorothea, who married Mr. James Bratton ; Anne,
who married the Rev. George A. Baxter, D. D.; Priscilla, who married
Mr. Samuel Wilson, and has resided more than thirty years in Ala-
bama; WVilliam, who has also lived in Alabama for many years; and
John, the youngest son, who died at the age of eighteen, while a stu-
dent at Washington College. Of these Colonel William Fleming and
Mrs. Wilson are the only survivors. Mrs. Fleming long survived her
husband, and maintained the wonted hospitality of his house. Con-
sult Foole's Sketches of Virginia, second series, page 268. Governor
Gilmer, in his ** Georgians,”’ page 56, states that Colonel Fleming
was Governor of Virginia; but he is mistaken. As a member of the
Council, he may have acted on some occasion as Lieutenant-Governor.

[As a member of the Council, for a time in June, 1781, during the
flight, before the enemy, of Governor Jefferson from the capital, Colo-
nel Fleming was the Executive of the State. His acts were legalized
by a resolution of the Assembly (Hening’s Statutes, x, 567):
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He is said to have been of medium height, his features strongly
marked, his eves blue, his nose Roman, and his hair, until it
became grey, of a dark brown. His teeth were souud to the
last. There is no portrait of him extant; for in those days
painters never crossed the Blue Ridge, and came very rarely
east of it; but there is a small profile likeness of him, which
exhibits the outline of a striking head. His address was dig-
nified and engaging; and having received a classical training in
early life, and mingled freely in soéiety, passing in a period of
more than forty years through all the varieties of public life, and
with fair powers of observation, he was always self possessed in
his demeanor, and displayed great facility in pleasing and inter-
esting all who came in contact with him. He wore the dress of
the Revolution to the end; and was not inattentive to his person
or to the customs of polished society. Even in his Indian cam-
paigns he sealed his letters to his wife with wax on whicl was
impressed the Fleming coat-of-arms. Such was  William
Fleming, a patriot whose name had almost slipped from the
memory of that Commonwealth whose independence he aided
in achieving, and whose glory is a part of his work.

There is a strong similarity in the lives of Hugh Mercer and
William Fleming. Both were Scotchmen, who emigrated in
early manhood to the Colony of Virginia. Both studied medi-
cine in the University of Edinburgh, and exchanged the scalpel
for the sword, and were engaged in the Indian wars that ended
with the pacification of 1763. Both in high military command
and in the midst of battle fell covered with wounds. But here

It appearing to the General Assembly that Colonel William Flem-
ing, being the only acting member of the Council for some 1ime before
the appointment of the Chief Magistrate, did give orders for the calling
out the militia, and also pursued such other measures as were essential
to good government, and it is just and reasonable that he should be
indemnified therein—

“ Resolved, therefore, That the said William Fleming, Esq., be
indemnified for his conduct as before mentioned, and the Assembly do
approve the same.

“Jonn BeckLrEy, C. H. D.

‘1781, June 23.

‘“ Agreed to by the Senate.

“WiLL. DrEwW, C. S.”
—EDITOR.]






ISAAC VANMETER, EBENEZER ZANE.

It would be to present an unfaithful portrait of the useful and
able men who represented the West in the Convention if we
" omitted to record the names of Isaac Vanmeter, of Hardy, and
of Ebenezer Zane, of Ohio. They were the peculiar repre-
sentatives of the region from which they came; but in their man-
ners, in their services rendered to their adopted State, and in
their eminent fitness for the perilous times in which they acted,
would compare favorably with their ablest associates in the body.
Vanmeter was the son of John Vanmeter, of New York, who
accompanied the Delawares on a war party against the Catawbas;
but the Catawbas, anticipating the attack, surprised and defeated
the Delawares in a battle fought near where the present court-
house of Pendleton county now stands. John Vanmeter
escaped, and returned to New York; but he was so impressed
with the fertility and beauty of the lands on the South Branch
bottom in Hardy county, particularly those immediately above
what was called the Trough, that he advised his sons to migrate
and settle upon them. Isaac, the subject of the present notice,
shortly set out for the happy valley, and in 1736 made a toma-
hawk improvement on the lands recently, if not now, owned by
his descendants of the same name, lying just above the Trough,
where Fort Pleasant was afterwards erected. He then returned
to New York, but in 1740 visited his improvement, on which he
found a squatter, whom he immediately bought out.*

In the mean time emigrants from other quarters made their
appearance, and in the names of Hite, Mercer, White, Swear-
ingen, Stephen, Lucas, Vance, Rutherford, Jackson, Morgan,
and others, we find the representatives of that region who
opposed the measures of the British Ministry which led to the
Revolution, and who on the field and in the council sustained

2] derive my authority for these facts from Kercheval's History of
the Valley of Virginia, page 72, and Foole's Skelches of Virginia,
second series, page I5. 3
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with unfaltering fidelity the fortunes of the young Common-
wealth through a long and perilous war. It was by the aid of
these and such like gallant sons of the West that Patrick Henry
maintained that majority in the House of Delegates, without
which, according to Jefferson, there must have been a stand-still
in the prosecution of the contest with Great Britain.

Isaac Vanmeter was frequently a member of the House of
Delegates, and in 1786 approved the expediency of amending .
the Articles of Confederation, and gave a cordial support to the
resolutions appointing the Convention at Annapolis, and subse-
quently the General Federal Convention that met at Phila-
delphia. !

During the October session of 1786 a measure of domestic
policy, which has a peculiar interest at the present time, was
brought before the House of Delegates, and from the introduc-
tion of the ayes and noes, which, however, were still rarely
called, we have the means of knowing the deliberate opinions of
Eastern and Western men upon it. It appears that Joseph
Mayo had in his will instructed his executors to give freedom to
his slaves, and on the 4th of November, 1786, an application
was made by them for permission to carry the will into effect.
The subject was referred to the Committee of Propositions and
Grievances, and reported reasonable. A motion to lie on the
table was made and failed. It was then moved to postpone the
subject until the next session of the Assembly, which the House
refused to do. A motion was now made to strike out the words
‘‘is reasonable,’”” and insert ‘“be rejected,” which also failed.
The main question was then put upon agreeing with the report
of the committee, and decided in the affirmative by a vote of
fifty-three to forty-eight—ascertained by ayes and noes.® A
select committee, .consisting of James Madison, Theoderick
Bland, Francis Corbin, John Page, Mann Page, Richard Bland
Lee, French Strother, and Thomas Underwood, all Eastern men,
were appointed by the Chair to draft a bill in pursuance of the
vote of the House. On the 13th of the month, Mr. Madison
reported a bill, which was made the order of the following day,
but which was not reached until the 18th of December, when,
after an animated discussion, it was passed by a vote of sixty-

# House Journal, November 4, 1786.



ISAAC VANMETER, EBENEZER ZANE. 57

seven to forty—ascertained by ayes and noes.** Vanmeter voted
for sustaining the report of the committee and for the passage
of the bill. This question receives additional interest from the
fact that few slaves were then owned west of the Blue Ridge.
On ‘the various questions touching the finances of the State,
and particularly on those relating to the payment of taxes, he
voted with the popular majority which so'long ruled the coun-
cils of the Commonwealth. When the act to amend an act

* As many of the members of the House of Delegates at this session
were also members of the present Convention, I annex the ayes and
noes, the names of the members of the present Convention being in
tlalics :

AveEs—John Cropper, Zachariak Johnston, Archibald Stuart, John
Trigg, John Campbell, Thomas Rutherford, Martin McFerran, George
Hancock, Adam Clement, Paul Carrington, Jr., Henry Southall, Wil-
liam Christian, French Strother, Merriwether Smith, David Stuart,
Elias Edmunds, Joseph Crockett, John Fowler, Jr., George Thompson,
John Early, George Clendenin, Isaac Coles. Elias Poston, John Prunty,
George Jackson, Isaac Vanmeler, Willis Wilson, Jokn Mann, William
Norvell, William Walker, Richard Terrill, Arthur Campbell, John
Lyne, Daniel Fitzhugh, /james Gordon, Cyrns Griffin, Francis Peyton,
Richard Bland L.ee, William White, James Dabney, Benjamin Logan,

. John Jouett, Francis Corbin, Owen Davis, David Scott, Robert Sayres,
Andrew Hines, William McMahon, James Madison, Jr., Charles Porter,
Benjamin Lankford, Constant Perkins Wade Mosby, 7Zkeodorick
Bland, John Thoroughgood, Andrew Moore, Williain McKee, John
Hopkins, Isaac Zane, Abraham Bird, Mann Page, /oin Dawson, James
Campbell, Robert Craig, Daniel McCarty, David Lee, and Zhomas
Matthews.

NoEs— George Nicholas, John Pride, Thomas Claiborne, Binns
Jones, John Cabell, Anthony New, Thomas Scott, Matthew Cheatham,
Miles King, James Upshaw, John Rentfro, Samuel Richardson, Charles
Mynn Thurston, Zhomas Smith, John Lucas, Edmund Wilkins. John
Coleman, Farke Goodall, John Garland, George *Hairston, John Scar-
brook Wills, John Lawrence, Wiltiam Thornton, Benpamin Temple,
Christopher Robertson, James Johnson, William Curtis, Willis Riddick,
Anthony Brown, Willis Wilson, Griffin Stith, Littlelon Eyre. John
Gordon, Cuthbert Bullitt, George Lee Turberville, Thomas Ridiey,
Andrew Buchanan, Lemuel Cocke, and Jokn Allen.

Joseph Prentis was Speaker of the House ; but it appears that at this
time it was not usual for that officer to vote except in the case of a tie.
Those who wish to examine the geographical aspect of the vote so far
as the votes of the members of the Convention of 1788 are concerned,
may do so by turning to the list of the members in the Appendix.
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entitled an act for the establishment of Courts of Assize, which
took up much of the time of the October session of 1786,
came before the House with sundry amendments from the Com-
mittee of the Whole, he voted to sustain the eleventh of the
series, which virtually enacted a stay-law for a given period in
certain cases, and it is a pregpant illustration of the public
opinion of that age that the amendment was carried by a majority
of one hundred and twelve against ten.* When the engrossed
bill came up, however, there was an even vote on its passage,
and its passage was effected by the casting vote of the Speaker.*
Nor should we fail to add that when on the 17th day of Decem-
ber, 1785, the bill ‘‘establishing religious freedom’’ was on
its passage in the House of Delegates, Vanmeter, in common
with his colleagues of the West, gave it a cordial support.”

In the present Convention he opposed the policy of previous
amendments, and voted for the ratification of the Constitution.
And when the motion to strike from the schedule of amend-
ments the third article, which stipulated that Congress should
first apply to each State for its quota of taxes before proceeding
to lay any taxes at all, he seems to have been casually absent, as
his name does not appear on the roll of ayes and noes, though
there is no doubt of his apposition to the amendment.

The name of Zane is honorably known in the history of the
West. The original emigrants who bore it-passed from Penn-
sylvania, it is believed, between 1735 and 1745, into what is now
the county of Hardy, and encountered all the difficulties and

# See the ayes and noes in the House Journal of December 16, 1786.

‘¢ House Journal, December 18, 1786. On the stay-law clause Madi-
son voted in the affirmative, and George Nicholas in the negative.

11 annex the vote of the House of Delegates on the bill, so far as the
names of the rhembers of the present Convention are concerned :

Aves—Wilson Cary Nicholas, Samuel Jordan Cabell, Zachariah
Johnston, John Trigg, Archibald Stuart, French Strother, Meriwether
Smith, Charles Simms, David Stuart, Alexander White, Thomas Smith,
George Clendenin, Ralph Humphries, Isaac Vanmeter, George Jack-
son, Benjamin Temple, Christopher Robertson, James Madison, Cuth-
bert Bullitt, Andrew Moore, and James Innes.

Noes—Miles King, Worlich Westwood, William Thornton, Francis
Thorburn, Willis Riddick, Anthony Walke, and Richard Cary. (House
Journal, December 17, 178s.)
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ISAAC ZANE.

The first of the Zanes who appeared in the public councils
was the namesake and relative of the Indian refugee, General
Isaac Zane, of Frederick, as Frederick was at its creation. He
was probably born in Pennsylvania, and migrated in early life to
that part of Virginia then known as Frederick; was successful
in the pursuit of wealth, and displayed his enterprise by estab-
lishing the first iron-works in that region. As the site of his
foundry he selected Cedar creek, a full and bold stream, which
winds its way under high cliffs, and affords now and then
a stretch of bottom land. The remains of the forge are yet
visible, and attest the skill and thorough workmanship of the
original structure. The source from which he obtained his ore
was distant ten miles from the foundry. Surrounding his estab-
lishment he possessed a fine estate of three thousand acres of
land.*®

From this scene of successful enterprise he was called to the
March Convention of 17735, which held its sessions in the wooden
church [St. John’s] on Church Hill, in the town of Richmond.
This was the first step of a career which embraced ten years,
more remarkable for the nunmiber and dignity of the events that
transpired during their term than any other similar period in our
history. When Zane took his seat in the Convention he thought
that the troubles of the times would soon pass away, and that

9 “] rode over for my satisfaction and examined the site of General
Zane's old iron-works. I found still standing the remains of the old
stack of the furnace, which is still a huge pile of mortar, sandstone,
and brick. It was formerly encased with large timbers and walls of
limestone on the outer side, to resist the inward expansion of heat.
The large arches for the bellows and for the escape of the melted iron
are in good preservation. The works afforded employment for a num-
ber of persons. It was evident that the structure had suffered more
from the hand of man than from the progress of time.” (Letter of
Francis B. Jones, Esq., March 12, 1857.)
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the old good humor between the mother and the daughter
would soon be restored. But events, which were soon to dispel
all hopes of a reconciliation, were at hand. Though Zane was
compelled to travel on horseback through the snows of the
mountains, he was early at his post in the Convention. What
memorable events in the annals of Virginia soon passed before
him! He heard the eloquence of Henry in defence of his reso-
lutions putting the Colony into military array, and was one of
that majority which carried those resolutions triumphantly
through the house. 8

In the Convention of the following July he voted for the
raising of the two Virginia regiments, and for placing Henry at
their head. In the December Convention of the same year he,
with his compeers, assumed the direction of public affairs as
fully as if Virginia had been an independent State. Still, there
was no open talk of an entire separation from the mother
country. How impotent are the actors themselves to foretell
the progress of events in the tempest of a revolution! Three
short months elapse, and the Convention of May, 1776, assem-
bles. Zane, living on the outskirts of our territory, was again
among the earliest in his seat. The first stages of the drama of
Independence now passed before his eyes. He voted to instruct
the delegates of Virginia in Congress to propose independence.
He voted for the appointment of a committee to draft a Declara-
tion of Rights and a plan of government for a free Common-
wealth; and when those papers were passed from the honest
hands of Archibald Cary—who, by the way, like Zane, was a
worker in iron—to the Clerk of the House, he gave them an
active and cordial support. He voted for Patrick Henry as the
first Governor of the new Commonwealth he had aided in estab-
lishing, as he had already voted to confer upon him the chief
command of the public forces. He now returned home to pro-
claim his work to the sturdy bioneers who would soon be called
upon to sustain it in the field. As he was returning to his
mountains he might almost have heard the sound of the simple
artillery of his Western compatriot, Andrew Lewis, as it played
upon the vessels of Lord Dunmore and drove that weak and
faithless man beyond the waters of the new State. And he had
just reached his home, when he read in the Virginia Gazelle,
of the 10th of July, a synopsis of that Declaration of Inde-
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pendence which had been brought forward in Congress in
obedience to his own vote.

Three rapid months have flown, and he is again in the saddle
on his way to Williamsburg to attend the first session of the
General Assembly under the Constitution. He had already
borne a prominent part in bringing about events which, even at
this day, startle and thrill us as we trace their progress on the
cold pages of the old journals. But these events, grand and
august as they were, were but the first acts of a long and peril-
ous drama which he was to behold to its close. It is known
that the Convention of May, 1776, having filled the measure of
its labors by the organization of the new government created by
its act, adjourned over to October, and became the first House
of Delegates under the Constitution which it had framed. Zane
was accordingly a member of the first House of Delegates, and
was one of that noble majority which, under the auspices of Mr.
Jefferson, abolished primogeniture and entails and the collection
of church levies; and, besides making active preparations for
maintaining the war, laid the foundations of a judiciary system.
The creation of the courts caused much discussion in our early
Assemblies, and it is worthy of record that it was on a motion
made on the 3d of March, 1778, to postpone indefinitely Mr.
Jefferson’s bill “‘for establishing a General Court and Courts of
Assize,” that the ayes and noes were first called in a Virginia
Assembly;® and on that occasion the name of Isaac Zane

% As it may interest the curious to see a list of the first ayes and noes
ever called in Virginia, I annex the vote on the indefinite postpone-
ment of the bill “for establishing a General Court and Courts of Assize.”
I inay add that the motion to postpone was negatived by a majority of
six votes, and that the bill passed the House by a majority of two
votes. Pendleton was Speaker, but voted in course as a member for
Caroline:

Aves—Munford, McDowell, Bowyer, Macklin, Tazewell, Patterson,
Harrison of Charles City, Edmondson, Smifk of Essex, Woodson,
Underwood, Terry, Syme, Anderson, Wilkinson, Adams, Hairston,
Nicholas (Robert Carter), Norvell, Wills, Fulgham, Callaway, Dabney,
Meriwether, Crockeit, Montgomery, Allen, Godfrey, Porter, Thorough-
good, Robinson, Brown, Gee, and Judkins.

NoEges—]Jefferson, Talbot, Thomas Hite, Lockhart, Pendleton, Upshaw,
Strother, Randolph, Carringlorn (Paul), Bird, George Mason, Pickelt,
Hugh Nelson, Zane (Isaac), Smith of Frederick, Burwell, Abraham
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appears in the negative, and in favor of the immediate establish-
ment of the judiciary under the new government. Until the end
of the war he united with Henry and his associates in carrying
those measures into effect which were then deemed indispensable
to the public welfare.

In common with all the Western members he cherished a
devoted love of religious liberty, and in 1785 voted for the act
establishing religious freedom, and thus invested his name with
a glory that will only kindle the brighter for years. A friend to
the Union of the States, he approved the scheme of a Conven-
tion at Annapolis and of the General Federal Convention at
Philadelphia. With the session of 1787 his public career ended.
He had grown old, and he determined to retire from public life.
He never married, but a relative bearing his name succeeded
him in the public councils. ‘We may add that he lived to hail
the adoption of the Federal Constitution, which he greatly
admired, and to vote for the re-election of his friend Washing-
ton, with whom he had voted in the March Convention of 1775
in favor of Henry’s warlike resolutions. In 1795 this venerable
patriot was gathered to his fathers.

Hite, Neaville, Braxton, Griffin, Gordo»n, Clapham, Daniel, Duval,
Muse, Moore, Fleming, Ruffin, Harrison of Prince George, Bullilf,
Thornton, Carter, Fitzhugh, Richard Lee, Bledsoe, Cocke of Washing-
ton, Wright, Prentis, Jett, and Harwood. "

It is probable that the ayes and noes were introduced by Mr. Jeffer-
son, with a view of holding up to public responsibility the men who
were relnctant to put the courts in motion under the new regime. See
Journal of the House of Delegates, January 3, 1778. The name of
-Moore in the above list is that of William Moore of Orange, and that
of Fleming is Judge Fleming.
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EBENEZER ZANE.

The namesake and relative of Zane who succeeded him in the
public councils, and now held a seat in the present Convention,
hailed not from Frederick, as Isaac Zane had hailed when he
represented that immense principality in the early Conventions,
but from the county of Ohio, which had been cut off ten or
twelve years from the district of West Augusta.

Colonel Ebenezer Zane was now past middle life, and had long
been known as one of the most intelligent, brave, and enter-
prising settlers of the extreme Northwest. As early as 1760,
we are told by Withers, Colonel Zane and two of his brothers,
with some friends from the South Branch of the Potomac, visited
the Ohio for the purpose of making improvements and of
selecting positions for their future residence. They finally deter-
mined upon the site of the present city of Wheeling, and,
having made the requisite preparations, returned to their former
homes, and brought out their families the ensuing year. It was
characteristic of the Zanes that they possessed enterprise, tem-
pered with prudence, and directed by sound judgment. To the
bravery and good conduct of the three brothers the Wheeling
settlement, according to Withers, was mainly indebted for its
security and preservation during the war of the Revolution.®
The defence of Fort Henry, which was built at the mouth of
Wheeling creek, was one of the most brilliant exploits of our
Indian warfare. One of the handful of men who on that occa-
sion defied and defeated a host of Indians commanded by the
notorious Girty, was Ebenezer Zane; and it is delightful to
record that, while Zane was firing on the foe, his wife and sister,
who were in the fort, were cutting patches and running bullets

- for those engaged in the fight. Nor should we pass over in
silence the heroic courage of this sister of Zane’s, who, though

U Withers's Chronicles of Border Warfare and Chronicles of Western
Virginia. Clarksburg: 183r1.
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just returned from a boarding-school at Philadelphia, volun-
teered during the heat of the action to sally from the fort
and fetch from a neighboring house a keg of powder—an achieve-
ment she succeeded in accomplishing amid a shower of rifle
balls from the Indians who suspected the object of the mission.
She escaped without a wound, and lived many years to enjoy
the reputation of having performed a deed of daring unsur-
passed by man or woman in ancient or modern times.*

It is probable that Colonel Zane’s intimate knowledge of the
Indian character, and of the numbers which the savage war-
riors could bring into the field, and his conviction of the neces-
sity of the union of all the States in any effort to oppose them
with ultimate success, rather than the positive provisions of the
Federal Constitution, insensibly led him to sustain that instru-
ment before the people, and to vote for its ratification in Conven-
tion. He accordingly opposed the policy of previous amend-
ments, and had he been present when the question was taken
(just before adjournment) on striking out the third article of the
schedule of amendments proposed by the select committee, which
recommended to Congress a resort to requisitions upon the
States before that body proceeded to lay direct taxes, he would
have followed the example of his colleague and voted in the
affirmative.®

% Withers states that she married twice, her last husband being a
Mr. Clark, and that she was living at the time of the publication of his
work. For an animated account of the battle of Fort Henry (so called
after Patrick Henry), see an article which originally appeared in the
American Pioneer, from the pen of George S. M. Kiernan, and is
partly copied in Howe's Virginia, page 409.

% Journal Virginia Federal Convention, page 37. Colonel Zane some
years after the date of the Convention moved to Ohio, and settled the
town of Zanesville, in that State. The substance of the article of Mr.
Kiernan on the battle of Fort Henry may be found in ZLossing’s Pic-
torial Field-Book of the Revolution,Vol.1l, 292, He entered the House
of Delegates in 1784.
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GEORGE JACKSON.

Among those adventurous and fearless men to whom Virginia
is indebted for the settlement of her northwestern territory, and
whose names deserve to be held in lasting remembrance, was
George Jackson, who was one of the representatives in Conven-
tion of the county of Harrison, which had been created four
years before, and had been called in honor of Benjamin Har-
rison, of “ Berkeley.” He was the son of John Jackson, who, in
1768, accompanied by his sons, George and Edward* set out
from their settlement on the South Branch of the Potomac, and
under the guidance of Samuel Pringle, a British deserter, who,
as early as 1761, had made a lodgment in the new territory,
made an improvement at the mouth of Turkey Run, where his
daughter resided as late as the year 1831.% An active and
intelligent member of the new settlement, he gained the confi-
dence of his associates, and having been returned at the first
election of members for the county of Harrison, he took his seat
with his present colleague, John Prunty, in the House of Dele-
gates in the October session of 1785.

%1t is an interesting conjecture if the distinguished Confederate
chieftain, General Thomas Jonathan Jackson (born in Harrison county,
and whose great-grandfather was Edward Jackson,) was of the blood
of George Jackson.—EDITOR. v

% The Pringles, John and Samuel, had deserted from Fort Pitt in
1761, and keeping up the course of the Valley river, observed a large
right-hand fork (now Buckhannon), which they ascended some miles,
and at the mouth of a small branch, now called Turkey Run, they took
up their abode in a large hollow sycamore tree, the remains of which
were not long since visible. Fearful of being apprehended and sent
back prisoners to Fort Pitt, as was the fate of two companions who
had deserted with them, they avoided the settlements for several years ;
nor until their powder was reduced to two loads did Samuel Pringle
venture into the society of white men; and on his return he was
attended by John Jackson and his sons, and by other residents of the
South Branch. See Withers's Border Warfare, quoted in Howe, 188.
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The first important question which he was called to vote upor.
was one that from the beginning of the Revolution to the adop-
tion of the Federal Constitution more than any other perplexed
our councils and laid the foundation of our early parties.

‘Money was wanted to defray the ordinary expenses of
government, to meet our own obligations, which were pressing
heavily upon the Commonwealth, and to pay the Federal
requisitions; and money could not be collected from the
people.  There was substantially no circulating medium ;
tobacco had fallen to a nominal price; the old channels of trade
had been closed by the Revolution, and no new ones had been
as yet effectually opened. Hence the various measures of relief
which were brought forward and discussed from time to time.
On the 14th of November, 1785, General Matthews reported from
. the Committee of the Whole a long amendment to the act “to
postpone the collection of the tax for 1785,”” which struck out
the whole of the act, declared that from various considerations
‘it is found impracticible, without involving the people in too
great and deep distress, to collect from them one-half tax
levied for 1785 by an act entitled ‘an act to discharge the peo-
ple of this Commonwealth from the payment of one-half of the
revenue tax for the year 1785,” and that there is reason to believe
that by the remitting of the said tax the people will be here-
after enabled to pay the revenue taxes with more ease and
punctuality,” and concluded with enacting the repeal of the act.
On this amendment the ayes and noes were called, and Jackson
and his colleague (Prunty) voted in the affirmative. It was agreed
to by a vote of fifty-two to forty-two, and the bill as amended
was ordered to be engrossed.® The following day when the

% As this was one of the test questions of the October session of
1785, I annex the votes of those who became members of the present
Convention : . ;

Aves—Benjamin Harrison (Speaker), John Trigg, Joseph Jones,
Thomas Smith, George Clendenin, Ralph Humphries, Isaac Vanmeter,
Parke Goodall, George Jackson, John Prunty, William White, Christo-
pher Robertson, Andrew Moore, Richard Cary.

Noges—Zachariah Johnston, Archibald Stuart, John Tyler, David
Patteson, Miles King, Charles Simms, David Stuart, Alexander White,
Isaac Coles, William Thornton, Francis Corbin, Wills Riddick, James
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ill came up on its passage with a rider, ‘‘authorizing the Solici-
tor-General to move for and obtain judgment for the penalty of
a bond given by any sheriff or collector who should fail to
render when required an account of the taxes by him already
collected,” the vote was again taken by ayes and noes, and
resulted in the defeat of the bill by a majority of two votes;
Jackson and Prunty voting in the affirmative.

On the 13th of November of the same year another great
question was presented to the House, which foreshadowed the
amendment of the Articles of Confederation to such an extent
at least as to invest Congress with a limited control over the
commerce of the several States. Alexander White reported from
the Committee of the Whole a resolution which it had agreed to,
in substance, ‘‘that the delegates of Virginia in Congress be
instructed to propose in that body a recommendation to the
States in Union to authorize that assembly to regulate their
trade under certain stipulations.’”” One of these required “that
no act of Congress that may be authorized as here proposed
shall be entered into by less than two-thirds of the confederated
States, nor be in force longer than thirteen years.”” A motion
was made to add to these words: ‘‘unless continued by a like
proportion of votes within one year immediately preceding the
expiration of the said period, or be revived in like manner at
the expiration thereof.”” On this amendment the ayes and noes
were called; and it was rejected by a vote of seventy-nine noes
to twenty-eight ayes; Jackson and Prunty voting in the negative.
The original resolution as reported was then agreed to without
a division, and White was requested to carry it to the Senate
and request its concurrence therein.”” But the meditation of

Madison, William Ronald, Edmund Ruffin, Cuthbert Bullitt, Anthony
Walke, John Howell Briggs, James Innes, Thomas Matthews.
This is a most significant record to those who read it rightly.

5" The votes of those who became members of the present Conven-
tion were as follows : 4

Aves—Zachariah Johnston, Archibald Stuart, John Tyler, French
Strother, Charles Simms, David Stuart, Thomas Smith, George Clen-
denin, Isaac Coles, William Thornton, James Madison, and James
Innes.

Noes—Benjamin Harrison, Samuel Jordan Cabell, John Trigg, Wil-
liam Watkins, Joseph Jones, Miles King, Worlich Westwood, Alex-
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a single night seems to have materially changed the views
the members, for on the following morning, as soon as th.
House was called to order, a motion was made to rescind the
order of the House transmitting the resolution to the Senate,
and to resolve itself into a Committee of the Whole to recon-
sider it. This motion prevailed by a majority of sixty to thirty-
three—ascertained by ayes and noes; and several amendments
were made in committee which were reported to the House; and
the resolution and amendments were ordered to lie on the table.
We believe the resolution slept during the session; at all events,
the ayes and noes were not again called upon it.*

On the 17th day of December, at the same session of the
Assembly, there was brought up in the House of Dclegates a
not less important question, and the vote of Jackson on that
occasion has connected his name honorably with one of the
most liberal and most glorious enactments recorded in our
statutes. On that day the engrossed bill *for establishing reli-
gious freedom’’ came up on its final passage, and was triumph-
antly carried by a vote of seventy-four to twenty—ascertained
by ayes and noes. The name of George Jackson, enrolled
among the friends of that measure, is the richest legacy which
he could have bequeathed to his posterity.* From this period
to the close of the session Jackson was absent from his seat.

During the October session of 1786, Jackson voted to sustain
the report of the select committee, of which Madison was the
chairman, which recommended the manumission of the slaves of
Joseph Mayo, deceased, in pursuance of the provisions of his
will, with certain restrictions—a subject which attracted much
attention at the time; and on the 16th of December he voted for
the amendment to the bill establishing Courts of Assize and
allowing a limited stay in collecting debts under certain circum-

ander White, Ralph Humphries, Isaac Vanmeter, George Jackson,
John Prunty, Benjamin Temple, Christopher Robertson, Francis Cor-
bin, Willis Riddick, Edmund Ruffin, Cuthbert Bu litt, Andrew Moore,
Thomas Edmunds (of Sussex), John Howell Briggs, Richard Cary.
This vote represents pretty fairly the relative strength of parties on
Federal questions before the advent of the Federal Constitution.

% House Journal, November 30 and December 1, 178s.

% House Journal, December 17, 1785. See ayes and noes, anfe.
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Perhaps no member of the able and patriotic delegation which
the West contributed to our early councils exerted a greater
influence in moulding public opinion, especially during the
period embraced by the treaty of peace with Great Britain and
by the adoption of the Federal Constitution, than Alexander
White, of Frederick. He was the son of Robert White, a sur-
geon in the British navy, who, having visited, about the year
1730, his relative, William Hoge, then residing in Delaware, fell
in love with his daughter, whom he married, and with whom,
accompanied by her father, he emigrated to Virginia, and made
his home near the North Mountain, on a creek which still bears
the name of White. Robert White died in the year 1752, in
the sixty-fourth year of his age, and was buried in the eastern
corner of the old Opecquon church-yard, in the county of
Frederick, distant three miles from Winchester, where a tree
marks his grave. He left three sons, of whom the youngest
was the statesman whose services it is our duty to record.®

In June, 1783, he took his seat for the first time in the House
of Delegates, when the body had "been in session more than a
month; and we find him immediately placed on a select com-
mittee, consisting of Joseph Carrington and Cabell (of *“Union
Hill ), appointed to bring in a bill * to confirm certain proceed-
ings of the court of Cumberland county.”’ At that day great
vigilance; was manifested by the House of Delegates in scruti-

€] am indebted for these particulars respecting the Whites to Foote's
Sketches of Virginia, second series, page 23. The father of Robert
Carter Nicholas and the father of William Cabell of (“Union Hill”’) were
also surgeons in the British navy. The late eminent Judge Robert
White was the nephew of Alexander. [From the following extract
there is reason to believe that Alexander White had the advantages of
education in England and of legal training: “ Alexander White, son
of Robert White of Virginia, Esq., matriculated January 22, 1763 ;
admitted to the Inner Temple January 15, 1762.” (Gray's Inn Admis-
ston Register, 1521-1889, by Joseph Foster, page 383.)—EDITOR. ]
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.azing the claims of a member to his seat—a vigilance the more

,remarkable from the fact that the qualifications were prescribed
by law in addition to those required by the Constitution. As
White had been an assistant to the county attorney in certain
prosecutions, probably about the time of his election, a member
moved that his case be referred to the Committee of Privileges
and Elections, which made a favorable report. On the 7th of
June, 1783, a bill came up for engrossment concerning one Peter
Heron, a subject of His Most Christian Majesty, and master of
the brigantine Lark, who, being ignorant of the language and
misled by his interpreter, had, contrary to law, broken bulk
before he had entered his vessel. This would seem to be a plain
question at this time; but from peculiar circumstances it elicited
warm debates, and the ayes and noes, which up to this date were
rarely called during the session, were demanded by Mann Page
and seconded by George Nicholas. The proposed amendment
was adopted and the bill ordered to be engrossed by a vote of
sixty to twenty-five, George Nicholas, William Cabell, Adam
Stephen, French Strother, Thomas Smith, Patrick Henry, Joseph
Jones, Stevens Thomson Mason, and James Gordon voting in
the affirmative; and John Tyler (Speaker), Archibald Stuart,
Alexander White, William Ronald, Andrew Moore, and Gabriel
Jones in the negative.® The bill alternately passed both houses
and became a law.

On the gth of June a selecf committee was appointed to bring
in a bill to amend an act entitled an act declaring tenants of lands,
or slaves in tail, to hold the same in fee simple; and White was
placed at its head, with Thomson Mason as his associate. At
this day we can hardly form an adequate opinion of the intense
excitement raised in the early stages of the Republic by every
measure relating to sheriffs. There was no coin in the country,
the circulating medium had only a nominal value, and nothing
could be more arbitrary than the prices affixed in the interior to

81 These gentlemen were all members of the present Convention, and
in reporting their votes on the test questions of the session I give the
most authentic account of their public conduct. I must caution those
who consult our early journals against the remarkable errors in the
names of the members. Adam Stephen is always confounded with
Edward Stevens, who was also a general, and a gallant fellow. Stevens
Thomson Mason’s name 1s never printed correctly, nor Willis Riddick's.
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tobacco, hemp, flour, deerskins, and other commodities receiva-
ble in kind in the payment of taxes. An astute and unscrupu-
lous sheriff or deputy sheriff, aided by an unprincipled petti-
fogger, and availing himself of the authority of law, could render
the rich uncomfortable and reduce men of moderate means to
beggary. Hence the enormous fortunes made by the sheriffs,
some of which have descended to our times; and hence the ter-
rible malediction upon the sheriffs which was uttered by Patrick
Henry in the present Convention, and which was the fiercest that
ever fell from his lips. The orator had doubtless felt the sting
of the viper on his own person; and he had seen hundreds of
poor and virtuous citizens driven from their homes by the
rapacity of the legal bloodsuckers, to take refuge in the haunts
of the savage. The present bill was evidently designed to
modify the existing laws in relation to the collection of taxes,
and was sustained by White, Henry, George Nicholas, William
Cabell, Zachariah Johnston, Archibald Stuart, Thomas Smith,
Isaac Coles, Joseph Jones, Andrew Moore, and. Gabriel Jones;
Adam Stephen, French Strother, and James Gordon voting in
the negative. The measure was carried by a vote of seventy-
seven to seventeen.®”

On the roth of June an engrossed bill for the relief of the
sheriffs was read the third time, and the ayes and noes were
called upon its passage.

It was often difficult to procure money for the wages of the
members of the General Assembly. At one time, such was the
depreciation of the currency, a member would have been com-
pelled to pay fifty dollars for a night’s lodging and feeding for
himself and horse, and probably feed and dress himself and
his horse with his own hands. The difficulty of paying the
wages of the members had become less since the termination of
the war, but it was still annoying, and had to be encountered at
the present session of the body. On the 1rth of June a motion
was made to appropriate eighteen hundred pounds out of the
fund heretofore appropriated for the defence of the Chesapeake,
and twelve hundred pounds out of the fund arising from
recruiting duties, for the payment of the wages of the members.
This proposition involved the important considerations affecting

&1 do not cite the paging of the Journals of Assembly, because the
dates are the surest means of reference.
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the payment of the debt of the Commonwealth, to which these
funds were pledged, and the public defence. These funds were
composed of duties collected mainly in the East, which were
mainly paid by Eastern men. The debate was long and warm.
The motion was carried by a vote of forty-three to forty; White,
Stephen, Smith, Coles, Henry, Joseph Jones, Stevens Thomson
Mason, Robert Lawson, and Andrew Moore voting in the
affirmative, and George Nicholas, Cabell (of ‘‘Union Hill’”),
Strother, and William Ronald, in the negative.

On the 17th of June leave was given to bring in a bill to
amend the act concerning the appointment of sheriffs, and
White was placed at its head; and on the 22d he was appointed
chairman of a select committee, which was instructed to bring
in a bill to suspend the operation of so much of any act or acts
of Assembly as prohibits intercourse with British subjects, and
to legalize such intercourse in certain cases.

A glimmering of a more wholesome public opinion on the sub-
ject of debts was seen on the 20th of June. The House postponed
indefinitely a bill for the relief of debtors, by the decided vote of
sixty-six to twenty-three; White, George Nicholas, Johnston,
Stephen, and William Watkins voting in the affirmative, and
Archibald Stuart and Strother in the negative.® The last topic
of general interest during the May session of 1783 was one
which at a later day produced much excitement in the public
councils—the removal of the seat of government from Richmond.
A committee of the House had been appointed to hold a con-
ference with the directors of the public buildings in Richmond,®

& Patrick Henry and Stevens T. Mason were absent when the ayes
and noes were called. I wish Henry's name had been forthcoming,-
but we may judge by White's vote what his would have been, as they
rarely separated. That such a cool, clear-headed man as White always
upheld Henry, is greatly to the honor of Henry.

% On the 24th of June, 1779, when the Assembly determined to
remove the seat of government from Willlamsburg, they appointed a
board of directors of the public buildings to make arrangements for
the accommodation of the members of Assembly and the public
officers in Richmond. The board was composed of Turner Southall,
Archibald Cary, William Watkins, Robert Goode, James Buchanan,
and Robert Carter Nicholas. They had accordingly purchased certain
lots and tenements, which are specified in the report of the committee
of the House of Delegates, and may be learned from the Journal.

[}
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and made a report of what had occurred between them, con-
cluding with a recommendation that it was most expedient for
the progress of the settlements on Shockoe Hill that the House
declare its determination to adhere to the site already chosen on
that hill in preference to any other place within the limits of
Richmond. When the question of concurring in the resolution
of the committee came up, it was moved to amend it by striking
out all after the word “ Resolved,” and by inserting the words
‘“ that the seat of government ought to be removed from the city
of Richmond to the city of Williamsburg.”” After an animated
discussion the vote was taken by ayes and noes, and resulted in
the rejection of the proposed amendment by a majority of six-
teen; Stephen, Thomas Smith, Joseph Jones, Stevens Thomson
Mason, Robert Lawson, and Edmund Ruffin voting in the
affirmative, and George Nicholas, Cabell (of ‘“ Union Hill "),
Archibald Stuart, French Strother, William Watkins, Alexander
White, William Ronald, and Andrew Moore in the negative.
The vote was mainly founded on geographical views, but not in
strict relation to East and West. This was the last effort made
to return to Williamsburg. The large appropriations for public
buildings, which soon followed, put an end to the contest between
the ancient and the rew metropolis.

There was a vote of the House on a subject connected with
the church establishment, which, though not final, shows the
views of the members on that topic, and claims a passing notice.
The House, on the 24th of June, resolved itself into Com-
mittee of the Whole on the bill to amend the several acts
concerning vestries, and the bill was reported without amend-
ment. A motion was then made to postpone the further con-
sideration of the bill to the second Monday in October next,
and was carried by a vote of fifty-two to twenty-eight; John
Tyler (Speaker), Zachariah Johnston, Adam Stephen, William
Watkins, Alexander White, Isaac Coles, Joseph Jones, Stevens
Thomson Mason, and Edmund Ruffin voting in the affirmative,
and George Nicholas, Cabell (of Union Hill), Archibald Stuart,
French Strother, Robert Lawson, and Andrew Moore in the
negative.®

% This was not equivalent t6 a vote for the indefinite postponement
of the bill. as the House was really in session in October.
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At the October session of 1783 White was late in his attend-
ance. Indeed, from the necessity of travelling on horseback,
and in the absence of those helps for protection in bad weather
which we now possess, the members of Assembly frequently
failed to make a quorum on the first days of the session. Those
who were punctual met and adjourned from day to day, and on
the organization of the House held the absentees to a strict
accountability. The roll was called, the names of the absent
were noted, and the sergeant-at-arms was ordered to take them
into custody. Nor was this a mere farce. No absent member
was then allowed to take his seat without the payment of the
fees, unless he could render a substantial excuse for his delin-
quency. On one occasion the sergeant-at-arms dispatched a
messenger to a distant member, who grumbled when called
upon to pay fifteen pounds for the adventure. The calling of
the roll of absentees had an effect which neither the House nor the
absentees dreamed of at the time. It has preserved to posterity
the full names of some individuals whose connection with the
Assembly could not otherwise have been proved from the Jour-
nals. In ordinary times the only appcarance of the name of a
member was on a regular committee appointed at the beginning of
a session, when the Christian name was almost always omitted,
or on the list of ayes and noes, where a similar omission fre-
quently occurs. Indeed, the ayes and noes were rarely called
from the Declaration of Independence to the peace with Great
Britain; and when they were called the members were often
absent. To ascertain who were members of our early Assem-
blies is one of the most laborious offices of the annalist. In
many cases it is impracticable. In the case of the House of
Burgesses it is impossible.®

%1t is impossible to ascertain who were members of the House of
Burgesses from the Journals; but the fact can be learned from the
clerks’ offices, and from the old almanacs. From the absence of a
list of the names of members, from the constant omission of Christian
names, and from the number of persons of the same surname, it
requires great caution in perusing our early records not to confound
individuals and even generations., Thus there are Burwells, Carters,
Cabells, Bassetts, Harrisons, Carys, Diggeses, Mayos, Carringtons,
Masons, Moores, Randolphs, Lees, Taylors, without number. At the
present session, and at several previous ones, there was a Benjamin Har-
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The first vote which White gave at the October session of
1783 was on one of the most perplexing topics of those days.
We have heretofore said that, as there was no coin in the Com-
monwealth, and hardly a circulating medium of any kind apart
from the public securities, the taxes, if paid at all, must be paid
in kind. To fix upon the articles which . might be taken in pay-
ment of taxes was often difficult; but it was also difficult to
determine the sections of country to which the act should apply.
A man living on tide-water would have a fairer chance of getting
money than a man living in the interior at a time when, from
many parts of the State to the seat of government, there was no
public road at all, when wagons were unknown, and when a man
was deemed fortunate who had succeeded in rolling a hogshead
of tobacco undamaged to tide. But at the session of 1783 there
was the dawn of a new policy, which, at all times admitted to be
theoretically sound, might with proper caution be gradually
introduced into,practice; and that was the payment of taxes in
money. Consequently, when on the 1g9th of November an
engrossed bill “to amend the laws of revenue, and declaring
tobacco, hemp, flour, and deerskins a payment of certain taxes,”
there was a most animated discussion in the House of Dele-
gates. It was necessary to determine what taxes should be
payable in either of the articles, and the sections of country to
which the provisions of the bill should extend. It should seem
that all were agreed that the bill should include the country west
of the Blue Ridge, but should it also include the counties of the
East? Should an Eastern nabob be allowed to pay his taxes in
skins ? Accordingly, when the bill was on its passage, a rider
was offered “to admit payments of hemp in counties on the
eastern side of the Blue Ridge in certain cases,”’ which was duly
read three times and adopted by the House. The question then

rison from Rockingham, while another of the same name was either
Speaker of the House, member of Congress, or Governor, and yet
another who was a member of the Council or of the House The
indispensable necessity of tracing the history of each member of the
one hundred and seventy of the present Convention for twenty or
thirty years through volumes of Journals that have no regular list of
names or indices of subjects, has cost me as much labor as would have
_sufficed to acquire any European language. Hence I may have made
some mistakes, but I trust they are few and unimportant.

.
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recurred on the passage of the bill with the rider, and was
decided in the affirmative by a vote of sixty-one to twenty-three
(ascertained by ayes and noes). Some of the ablest statesmen of
the East were opposed to the mode of paying taxes in kind,
now that the war was over; and it appears that nearly every
negative vote was given by the members from that section of
country. The names of those of the present Convention who
then voted in the affirmative were Zachariah Johnston, Archibald
Stuart, Thomas Smith, George Clendenin, Patrick Henry, Joseph
Jones, and William Ronald; and of those who voted in the
negative were George Nicholas, Alexander White, Isaac Coles,
and Edmund Ruffin. The vote of White, which was almost the
only one from the West, bespeaks his courage in opposing a
policy which, in one shape or other, had always prevailed in
Virginia, and which, however inconsistent with correct notions
of political economy, seemed peculiarly applicable to the condi-
tion of the people of the West.*” :

Few questions excited keener debates and roused to a higher
pitch the passions of the members who composed the General
Assemblies immediately after the peace with Great Britain than
those relating to citizenship. At the beginning of the Revolu-
tion many persons went abroad and continued to be loyal sub-
jects of England. Such persons on their return to Virginia
were plainly not entitled to any other privileges than those
which the laws offered to the subjects of any other foreign
potentate. There were, however, numerous individuals who
remained at home and took no open interest in public affairs,
but whose secret wishes, it was well known, were in favor of the
success of the British arms. There was a strong desire mani-
fested by others, who were nominally on the side of the Com-
monwealth, to save their lives and estates in the event of the
subjection of the States by Great Britain. These sent a son, a
brother, or an aged relative to some British port or colony as an
earnest of their own good will towards the mother country, and
as a means of procuring immunity from future punishment;

% In the minority was Henry Tazewell, who was particularly distin-
guished by his efforts to inaugurate the new system of taxation, until
he withdrew from the Assembly on his election to the bench of the
General Court.
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while they remained themselves at home, showing just so much
fidelity to the State as was necessary to exempt them from the
penalty of treason, or, entering the public councils, they sought to
embarrass by the tricks of Parliament or by specious maneuver-
ing the measures of the patriots.® As for those emigrants
who were not subjects of Great Britain, and who came with the
honest intention of taking up their abode in the Commonwealth,
there was a very slight difference of opinion respecting them.
But the element of British influence entered very generally into
all the discussions on the subject of citizenship, and in no debate
more than the one which occurred on the bill which we shall
now proceed to notice.

On the 2d day of December, 1783, an engrossed bill ‘*for
repealing a former law, and declaring who shall be deemed citi-
zens of this Commonwealth,”’ was read the third time, and after
a protracted discussion, which consumed nearly the whole day,
was rejected by a vote of fifty-five to thirty one—ascertained by
ayes and noes. The vote on the bill affords a curious study to
the political anatomist. East and West were blended together
in beautiful confusion. Some Eastern men had constituents of
great influence at home, who were eager for the return of
friends, and these they were unwilling to disoblige; while other
Eastern men, remembering the trouble which the Tories had
caused during the Revolution, were not indisposed to hold the
rod of terror over the heads of the returning recreants. Opposing
sentiments were also visible in the Western vote. There had
been few or no Tories in the West; but Western men had seen
with the deepest indignation in the public councils the policy of
those whom they regarded as the friends of the Tories, and were
not inclined to hold out to emigrants from Great Britain a too

% have all needful respect for those Virginians who., at the outbreak
of the Revolution, elected to remain subjects of Great Britain and
withdrew from our territory. Such a determination was altogether
legitimate. But for those miscreants who pretended to adhere to the
cause of Virginia, and sought by private letters or advices to entice
the enemy to visit our borders, or who perplexed our early councils
with their treacherous wiles, I have no respect, but rather an unutter-
able abhorrence. The private papers of Cornwallis, of Tarleton, ot
Arnold, and of Matthews ought to be examined for evidences of the
guilt of such wretches.



80 VIRGINIA CONVENTION OF 1788.

welcome hand, even on the return of peace; while Western men
generally, and especially the holders of vast tracts of land, were
eager for the prompt settlement of the country, which could
hardly be effected in a single generation without the aid of emi-
grants from abroad. Hence these were inclined, for the most
part, to favor a liberal policy in respect of citizenship. Those
who voted for the rejection of the bill were George Nicholas,
Zachariah Johnston, French Strother, Alexander White, Isaac
Coles, Patrick Henry, Benjamin Wilson, and William Ronald,
and those who voted against the rejection were John Tyler
(Speaker), Cabell (of “Union Hill”), Archibald Stuart, Thomas
Smith, George Clendenin, Joseph Jones, and Stevens Thomson
Mason. A few days after leave was given to bring in a new bill
on the subject, and George Nicholas, Patrick Henry, Alexander
White, and Joseph Jones were placed on the committee to pre-
pare it.

From the position and wants of Virginia, as well as from the
variety of her products, a trade with the West Indies on princi-
ples of reciprocity has been for nearly two centuries and a half a
favorite object. While the States were colonies of Great Britain
the commerce between the different settlements of the same
empire was comparatively unrestricted. The most friendly rela-
tions existed between the West Indies and our ancestors; visits
were interchanged, which resulted in marriages; and some names
most honorably distinguished during the Revolution, and con-
tinuously to this day, were borne either by the original emigrants
from the West Indies or by their immediate descendants.® Nor

® General Matthews, who bore arms during the Revolution, was long
Speaker of the House of Delegates, a member of the present Conven-
tion, and from whom the county of Mathews has been named, was a
native of St. Kitts, Howe states that the county was named after
Governor Mathews, of Georgia, which is a mistake, as I, who am a
townsman of Matthews, have always heard to the contrary; and I find
in the chart of the Commonwealth of Virginia, compiled in the year
1790 by William Marshall, clerk of the district of Virginia, the very
year of the birth of the county, that it was called after *“ Mr. Speaker
Matthews.” I take pleasure in vindicating the just fame of my towns-
man from the misrepresentations of careless compilers. The Mayos
and the Carringtons came from Barbadoes. Farley, a West Indian,
visited Colonel Byrd at Westover, and bought from him the vast area
of the Saura Town-lands at a nominal price. Byrd had previously sold
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when peace was secured with England, reverted eagerly to their
old trade, but found it crippled with limitations and restrictions.
The subject was immediately brought before the Assembly. It
should seem that a British order in Council, passed on the 2d
of July previous, prohibited American ships from carrying the
products of this country to any of the West India islands belong-
ing to England, and the Virginia merchant was compelled to
ship his merchandise in British bottoms, or to give up the trade
altogether. The House of Delegates, on the 4th of December,
took the matter in hand, and having discussed it at length
in Committee of the Whole, came to a resolution which was
reported by White as chairman of the committee. This resolu-
tion recommended ‘‘that Congress be empowered to prohibit
British vessels from being the carriers of the growth or produce
-of the British West India islands to these United States as long
as the restriction aforesaid shall be continued on the part of
‘Great Britain, or to concert any other mode to be adopted by the
States which shall be thought effectual to counteract the designs
of Great Britain with respect to American commerce.”’ It was
unanimously adopted, and a select committee, consisting of
White, Jones, Henry, Cabell, Ronald, and Tazewell, was appointed
to bring in a bill in pursuance of the same. It is creditable to
the standing of White—a Western man as he was—that, in a
matter referring to the seabord and to the interests of commerce,
he should hold such a prominent place on a committee composed
-of the ablest men of the East. He reported the bill on the sth,
and on the 6th it was discussed and referred back to the com-
mittee, and was again reported, when it passed unanimously both
houses of the Assembly.

On the 5th of December White reported a bill “to regulate
-elections, and to enforce the attendance of the members of

the lands to a Mr. Maxwell, who visited them during a pest, and was
so dispirited that he begged to be excused from his bargain. Some
time after the sale to Farley, Byrd’s eyes were opened to their great
value, and it is said that he grew sick from vexation and took to his
bed. In the course of time Farley sent his son from the West Indies
to inspect his lands, and the young man, calling at Colonel Byrd's, fell
in love with his daughter, married her, and brought the lands, for a third
time, into the family. See Swith’s Tour in America, Volume I, printed

An London about 1780.
6
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Assembly,”’ and was placed on a select committee, of which

George Nicholas was chairman and Patrick Henry a member,
for granting pardons, with certain exceptions. On the 8th he
was appointed a member of the select committee to bring in a
bill “instructing the delegates of Virginia in Congress to convey,
by proper instrument in writing, on the part of Virginia, to the
Congress of the United States, all right, title, and claim which
the said Commonwealth hath to the lands northward of the
river Ohio, and upon the terms contained in the act of Congress
of the 13th of September last, with certain restrictions.”” On
the 13th a bill prohibiting the migration of certain persons to the
Commonwealth, and for other purposes, was read a third time,
and passed the House by a vote of sixty-nine to eleven; Alex-
ander White, Cabell (of “ Union Hill""), Adam Stephen, Strother,
William Watkins, Thomas Smith, Patrick Henry, Joseph Jones,
Benjamin Wilson, William Ronald, and Andrew Moore voting
in the affirmative, and Johnston, Archibald Stuart, and George
Clendenin in the negative.

At the May session of 1784, White again appeared in the
House of Delegates as a member from Frederick. He was
required on the 7th of June to vote on a question, which, how-
ever simple it may now appear, involved considerations, public
and ptivate, of so grave a caste as might well account for the
reception it then met with from the Assembly. We allude to
the definitive treaty with Great Britain. A motion was made in
the House of Delegates *‘that so much of all and every act or
acts of Assembly, now in force in this Commonwealth, as pre-
vents a due compliance with the stipulations contained in the
definitive treaty entered into between Great Britain and America,
ought to be repealed.”” This motion appeared in a questionable
shape, and probably came from a questionable source. It had
not passed through the hands of a committee. It was absolute.
It made no exceptions or reservations whatsoever. If it passed
the House in its present shape, and a bill in pursuance of its
spirit became a law, the entire financial system of the Common-
wealth for the past ten years would be involved in inextricable
confusion. Great trouble would fall upon the people. Every
man who had paid a British debt into the treasury in obedience
to the enactments of good and constitutional laws would be
compelled to pay the same debt a second time, and to pay it in
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coin. To make suitable arrangements for encountering such an
extraordinary stipulation of the treaty would require great
deliberation and consummate judgment, and delay was abso-
lutely indispensable for the purpose. Nor did the British Gov-
ernment show any haste in carrying into effect those parts of
the treaty which depended upon itself. There was hardly a
member present from the country west of the Blue Ridge who
had not seen some individual of his own household, some friend
or neighbor, slain by the Indians, who had been supplied with
arms and ammunition by the British forts on the frontier, and
who were paid by British officers for the scalps of Virginia men,
women, and children. Yet, though a year and more had elapsed
since the date of the treaty, there was no movement made
towards withdrawing from those forts their garrisons and their
arms. On the contrary, they were kept in the highest state of
preparation for immediate action. It was plain that England
regarded the treaty as a mere truce that would separate us from
our European allies, and that she held the Western forts in
reserve as a part of her insiduous scheme. So long as those
forts were retained by Great Britain, the Indians would annoy
our frontiers and deluge the cabins of the settlers in blood.
Did the treaty absolutely require that the British debts should
be paid a second time? Ard if it did, had not Congress clearly
exceeded its powers in acceding to such a provision? To confis-
cate a debt was as perfect a belligerent right as to burn a house
or a ship, to take a negro from his owner, or to pocket the
ancient silver flagon of a host who was dispensing to his foes
the hospitalities of his house; and yet, there was no mention
made of the rebuilding of our homesteads, ora restitution of our
negroes, one-fifth of whom had been enticed or forced away, or
of that flagon which found its way into the pocket of Corn-
wallis. Even the negroes on board the British ships at York,
who were carried off in the face of the articles of capitulation,
were not to be restored or paid for.” There was no reciprocity

™ Mr. Jefferson, in his correspondence with Hammond, held that
Congress had performed its duty when it recommended to the States
the payment of the British debts. That Cornwallis took a piece of plate
from the table of Mr. Bates may be seen in Randall’s Life of Jefferson,
Vol.I, 344. Asthe ayes and noes on the subject of complying with the



84 VIRGINIA CONVENTION OF 1788.

in such a provision; and until it was evident that Great Britain
was disposed to withdraw her garrisons from a position which
threatened our Northwestern frontier, it was the dictate of com-
mon sense, as well as of patriotism, to deliberate well while
deliberation was possible. The result was that the motion to
repeal the acts of Assembly in conflict with the definitive treaty
prevailed by a majority of twenty—ascertained by ayes and noes;
White voting with the minority.”

On the 10th of June the House of Delegates went into Com-
mittee of the Whole on the subject of the public lands, White
in the chair; and two resolutions were reported and agreed to,
one of which ordered all the public lands, except such as were

British treaty have never been published from the Journals, I annex
the full vote, the names of the members of the present Convention
being in flalics :

AvEes— Wilson Cary Nicholas, Archibald Stuari, John Marshall
(Chief Justice), Alexander While, James Wood, Moses Hunter,
Thomas Edmunds (of Brunswick), Edward Carrington, George Wray,
Bartlett Anderson, William Norvell, Philip Barbour, Larkin Smith,
William Thornfon, Richard Bland Lee, Francis Corbin, John Brecken-
ridge, William Armistead, John Watkins, ZLiftleton Eyre, Bennet
Tompkins, Jawmes Madison, William Mayo, Jr., William Ronald,
Thomas Walke, John Taylor (of Southampton), Bailey Washington,
William Brent, Jokn Allen, John Howell Briggs, Wilson Miles Cary,
John Langhorne, Richard Henry Lee, Joseph Prentis, Nathaniel Nelson,
and Henry Tazewell.

Noes—John Cropper, Jr., Thomas Parramore, Samuel Sherwin, John
Booker, Jr., William Meredith, Michael Bowyer, jokn Trigg, Robert
Clarke, George Hancock, Thomas Claiborne, Samuel! Hawes, ]Jr.,
Thomas Collier, Matthew Cheatham, Carter Henry Harrison, French
Strother, jJoseph Jones (of Dinwiddie), Spencer Roane, William Gate-
wood, Alexander Henderson, John Mosby, Z#4omas Smnitk, Batte Peter-
son, Isaac Vanmeter, Garland Anderson, Turner Southall, Nathaniel
Wilkinson, Palrick Henry, Peter Saunders, William Walker, John S.
Wills, Edmund Byne, John Heath, John Berryman, William White,
Anthony Street, John Glenn, John Logan, William Randolph, Benja-
min Wilson, Francis Worman, Willis Riddick, Kinchen Godwin, John
Kearnes, Ebenezer Zane, Charles Porter, Benjamin Lankford, William
Dire, Richard Bibb, Edmund Ruffin, Edward Bland, John Ackiss, John
Bowyer, Gawin Hamilton, Zkomas FEdmunds (of Sussex), William
Russell, James Montgomery, and 7/omas Matthews.

" For repeated instances of the gross violation of the treaty by Gene-
ral Carleton, see House Journal, June 14, 1784.
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necessary for the use of government, and except also the lands
and houses in and adjacent to the city of Williamsburg, which
ought to be given to the masters and professors of William and
Mary University for the use of that seminary forever, ought to
be sold for money or military certificates; and the other recom-
mended that the lands known by the name of Gosport ought to
be laid off into lots and annexed to the town of Portsmouth.
A select committee was appointed to draft the bills in pursuance
of the resolutions, of which White was chairman and Patrick
Henry and William Grayson were members.

The public mind had not yet become reconciled to the removal
of the seat of government from Williamsburg to the town of
Richmond. The associations connected with the ancient
metropolis, with the old House of Burgesses, and with the vene-
rable college, and the delightful society and pleasant accommo-
dations, which did not exist in such a rude settlement as the
Richmond of that day was, long exerted an influence on the
members of Assembly generally, while a sense of interest
impelled the immediate representatives of Williamsburg and of
the adjacent counties to make every effort to revoke the pre-
cipitate action of the Assembly of 1779. The attention of the
House of Delegates had already been drawn to the public lands,
as just stated, and a select committee had been appointed to
bring in a bill on the subject. But on the r1th of June the
House went into committee on the public lands, and a resolution
was reported requiring all the public lands in and near Rich-
mond, not necessary for the purposes of the government, to be
sold, and the proceeds of the sales applied to the erection of the
public buildings in Richmond, in pursuance of the act for the
removal of the seat of government. As soon as the resolution
was read in the House, a motion was made to strike out all after
the word ‘‘Resolved,’’ and insert ‘‘ that proper measures ought
to be adopted to obtain the opinion of the citizens of the Com-
monwealth as to the place that ought to be fixed on for the seat
of government.” An animated discussion arose; but the ancient
city, though sustained by a strong party, was destined to suc-
cumb once more. The amendment was lost, and the bill passed
by a majority of six votes only in a full House; Wilson C.
Nicholas, Trigg, Archibald Stuart, Strother, Joseph Jones (of
Dinwiddie), John Marshall, Richardson, Isaac Coles, Vanmeter,
Patrick Henry, William White, Wilson, James Madison, Ronald,
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William Grayson, and Briggs voting in the affirmative, and
Miles King, Alexander White, Thomas Smith, Clendenin,
Thornton, Temple, Francis Corbin, Riddick, Littleton Eyre,
Gaskins, Ebenezer Zane, Edmund Ruffin, Thomas Walke, Allen,
Edmunds (of Sussex), and Thomas Matthews voting in the
negative.

A remarkable incident occurred on the 14th of June, which
stands alone in our annals, and, as it has been most grossly
though facetiously mistated, it may be proper to state the facts
of the case as they appear on the Journals of the House of Dele-
gates. It was reported to the House that Mr. John Warden
had spoken most disrespectfully of the members who had voted
against the repeal of the laws in conflict with the definitive treaty
with Great Britain, and the matter was referred to the Committee
on Privileges and Elections. The committee reported that
Warden had appeared before them, and, waiving the necessity
of examining any witnesses as to the charge against him, deliv-
ered in the following written acknowledgment signed with his
name: “I do acknowledge that, in a mistaken opinion that the
House of Delegates had voted against the payment of British
debts, agreeable to the treaty of peace between America and
Great Britain, I said that, if it had done so, some of them had
voted against paying for the coats on their backs. A committee
of the House judging this expression derogatory to the honor
and justice of the House, I am sorry for the offence I have given,
and assure the committee that it never was my intention to
affront the dignity of the House or insult any member of it.”
The House immediately resolved that the acknowledgment was
satisfactory, and that John Warden be discharged out of the
custody of the sergeant-at-arms. This was the end of the
whole affair. He was not personally before the House at all,
and could have made no remark about the dust on his knees as
he rose from the floor; and the blessed mother of us all has
been for more than seventy years laughing herself, and making
her children laugh, at a joke as utterly destitute of a solid foun-
dation as the currency she supplied us with during the Revo-
lution.™

2Warden was a Scotchman, a prominent lawyer, a good classical
scholar, and had some generous qualities as an individual, but was
classed among ‘‘ the tainted " during the Revolution. As some of my
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Among the difficulties that beset the path of the young Com-
monwealth was the proper regulation of commerce. To lay
uniform duties upon our own and foreign vessels and their cay-
goes was a simple office—on paper; but there were territorial
obstacles which tended greatly to diminish the amount of reve-
nue derived from the customs, and to prevent this easy and
effectual mode of taxation from being as profitable to the State
as it ought to be. In one aspect the numerous rivers of Vir-
ginia, trending from the Northwest and West to the Chesapeake,
should seem to afford extraordinary facilities for agricultural
success. Most of the products of our soil are bulky, and are
difficult to be conveyed by land carriage to market; and the
accessibility to water must exert a wonderful influence on the
productive capacities of the State. In a purely agricultural
view, then, nothing can well exceed the advantages of our posi-
tion in this respect, and such a natural arrangement unquestion-
ably develops ‘the resources of the State in a greater degree than
any improvement that could be contrived by the wit of man.
Unfortunately each large stream has its distinctive interests, and
its inhabitants are not only anxious to retain their own trade, but
seek the trade of the other rivers of the Commonwealth. Hence
a rivalry is excited which is fatal to the conceatration of com-
merce in a single mart, and prevents a chedp and speedy collec-
tion of the revenue for customs. When we regard Virginia as
an independent Commonwealth, such as she then was (1784), it
is obvious that she could not derive that profit from the trade
which was indispensably necessary for her prosperity and her
safety. Commerce, to produce its full effect upon a country,
must be concentrated in a single mart. For the sake of economy

young readers may not have heard the joke in question, and as I am
inclined to indulge them with a spice of the fun that tickled their
fathers, I may as well put it down. The story goes that Warden was
summoned before the House in full session, and was required to beg
its pardon on his knees, which he is said to have done. Assoon, how-
ever, as he rose from his knees, pretending to brush the dust from his
knees, though really pointing his hands toward the House, he uttered
audibly in broad Scotch, and evidently with a double meaning: “ Upon
my word, a dommed pirTY House it is indeed.” For a humorous pas-
sage between Warden and William Wirt, see Virginia Hisforical Reg-
ister, Vol. 11, 58.
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alone, such a concentration was expedient. If the State was
compelled to follow the ancient custom, and establish ports of
entry and custoni-houses at every plantation on the banks of our
numerous rivers, the expenses of collecting the revenue from
customs might exceed the amount of the revenue itself and
involve the public in loss. Moreover, by the multiplicity of
offices, the chances of smuggling would be too numerous to be
controlled by any police which the State could maintain; and
those merchants who were too honest to cheat the revenue, and
who deserved the aid of the State, would suffer a loss of their
legitimate profits and be involved in ruin. Thus one of the
most difficult problems which our early statesmen were com-
peiled to solve was, how they could most effectually concentrate
the commerce of the State with the least inconvenience to the
people. Unless commercial capital could be fixed in a single
mart, the State would not onlv fail to derive a fair revenue from
the customs, but she could form no seamen; and as Virginia
then was, a navy was necessary to protect her ships in peace as
well as in war. It was also seen that, with the concentration of
capital, the arts would prosper, and that we might be able ere
long to manufacture common articles for ourselves. !

To accomplish such desirable objects, a bill was presented in
the House of Delegates which “restricted foreign vessels to cer-
tain ports within this Commonwealth.”” On the 17th of June it
came up on its final passage, and was discussed with all the zeal
that public and private interests could inspire by the ablest men
in the body. Its provisions were closely scrutinized, and it is
evident that they must have interfered sensibly with the profit
and convenience of many members. Its preamble declared that
our foreign commerce would be placed upon a more equal
foundation; that expedition and dispatch would be better pro-
moted if foreign vessels in loading and unloading were restricted
to certain ports, and that the revenue arising from commerce
would also thereby be more certainly collected. The bill then
enacted that all foreign vessels shall enter, clear out, load, and
unload at Norfolk, Portsmouth, Tappahannock, Yorktown, ‘or
Alexandria; and it further enacted that, as the navigating small
county craft by slaves tended to discourage free white seamen,
and to increase the number of free white seamen would produce
public good, not more than one-third part of the persons
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employed in the navigation of any bay or river craft shall con-
sist of slaves; and if the owner of slaves shall put a greater
proportion on board of such craft, he shall forfeit and pay one
hundred pounds for each offence. The act was not to take effect
until the 1oth of June, 1786. The principle on which it was
based was sound, and it was a step in advance to reduce the
number of ports of entry to five; but even this reduction could
not suffice to attain what was practicable. The trade of that
day could easily have been managed at a single office, but,
divided among five, would enrich neither, and many of the
advantages flowing from a concentration of trade would be lost.
We should have no controlling mart of trade and money; there
would be but a small gathering of people around either of the
five commercial centres; the domestic arts and manufactures
could not be sustained, and a sickly languor would still pervade
our commercial system.

The bill passed in a full House by a majority of six; Patrick
Henry, James Madison, Archibald Stuart, Patteson, Strother,
King, Thomas Smith, Clendenin, Isaac Coles, Thornton, Temple,
John Logan, Francis Corbin, Riddick, Eyre, Gaskins, Ebenezer
Zane, Ronald, Thomas Walke, Allen, Edmunds (of Sussex), and
Matthews voting in the affirmative, and John Marshall, Alexander
White, Wilson C. Nicholas, John Trigg, Watkins, Joseph Jones
(of Dinwiddie), Richardson, William White, Wilson, Edmund
Ruffin, William Grayson, and Briggs in the negative.

As an illustration of the importance attached to the bill, it was
ordered to be inserted at full length on the Journal, and, together
with a copy of the Journal of the proceedings of the House
thereupon, printed in handbills, and {our copies thereof delivered
to each member. We have already recorded a solitary instance
of the publication of the ayes and noes in the public prints by
order of the House of Delegates; but, so far as our researches
have extended, we cannot recall an instance in which the bill
itself was printed entire. by a vote of the body on the face of the
Journal.™

It is not an uninstructive office to trace the early stages of

] have heard old men who had served in the Assembly about the
period of the passage of this bill speak of it as ‘ Madison’s bill,” and
‘* Madison’s scheme of building up towns.”
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great measures which engaged the attention of our fathers, and
which, discussed at long subsequent periods, were finally deter-
mined in our own time. One such measure is that which has
been familiar to the present generation as the Convention ques-
tion. The first Constitution of the State was formed simultane-
ously with the adoption of the resolution instructing the delegates
of Virginia in Congress to propose independence. It was indeed
formed at a perilous time; but it was unquestionably formed with
all the deliberation which so grave a subject demanded. The
Federal Constitution, which effected the most thorough change
in our Government that ever was made in the institutions of a
free people, was sum<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>